
 
Council 

07 July 2022 

 

 

 
AGENDA 

   
Contact: Julie Britton 
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 
Date: Tuesday, 28 June 2022 

 
The Breckland Conference 

Centre, Anglia Room, 
Elizabeth House, Walpole 
Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE 

 

 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 7th July, 2022 in The Breckland Conference 
Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
  
 
Maxine O’Mahony 
Chief Executive 

 
THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 

ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING 
 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 
The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members 

 
Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


Council 
07 July 2022 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

1. APOLOGIES  

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

2. MINUTES 4 - 16 

 To confirm the minutes of the Annual meeting held on 19 May 2022. 
 

 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council. 
 

 

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  17 - 18 

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive a verbal update from Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the 
Council. 
 

 

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 19 - 25 

 Please find attached the Questions on Notice together with the responses. 
 

 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7   

8. MINUTES (FOR INFORMATION ONLY)  

 To note the following Committee Minute documents: 
 

 

a) Cabinet: 6 June 2022 26 - 30  

 To note the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 June 
2022. 
 
Members are asked to note that the recommendations under Minute No. 
56/22 will be discussed under agenda item10. 
 

 

b) Overview & Scrutiny Commission: 26 May 2022 31 - 41  

 To note the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
meeting held on 26 May 2022. 
 

 

c) Planning Committee: 10 May 2022 and 7 June 2022 42 - 54  

 1. To note the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting 
held on 10 May 2022. 
 

2. To note the unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee 
meeting held on 7 June 2022. 

 
 
 

 



Council 
07 July 2022 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

9. ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE AND 
ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021-22 

55 - 77 

 Report by Councillor Phil Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue & 
Benefits. 
 
Members are asked to note that this report was considered at the Governance & 
Audit Committee meeting on 23 June 2022 where the recommendations were 
agreed to Full Council. 
 

 

10. QUARTER 4 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22 78 - 90 

 Report by Councillor Phil Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue & 
Benefits. 
 

 

11. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS  

 To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups. 
 

 

12. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY)   

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  

 NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 

 

 



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Held on Thursday, 19 May 2022 at 10.00 am in the 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

PRESENT  
Cllr Mike Nairn (Chairman) 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Roger Atterwill 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Bill Borrett 
Cllr Claire Bowes 
Cllr Roy Brame (out-going Chairman) 
Cllr Hilary Bushell 
Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen 
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
Cllr Ed Colman 
Cllr Paul Claussen 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Helen Crane 
Cllr Vera Dale 
Cllr Susan Dowling 
Cllr Richard Duffield 
Cllr Phillip Duigan 
Cllr Fabian Eagle 
Cllr Keith Gilbert 
 

Cllr Kay Grey 
Cllr Robert Hambidge 
Cllr Chris Harvey 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Terry Jermy 
Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris 
Cllr Robert Kybird 
Cllr Linda Monument 
Cllr Rhodri Oliver 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Taila Taylor 
Cllr Stuart Terry 
Cllr Lynda Turner 
Cllr Alison Webb 
Cllr David Wickerson 
Cllr Nigel Wilkin 
 
 

 
In Attendance  
Maxine O'Mahony - Chief Executive & Head of Paid Service 
Rob Walker - Executive Director & Monitoring Officer 
Sarah Barsby - Assistant Director People and Governance 

(Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer) 
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 
 Action By 
Outgoing Chairman's Opening Remarks    
  

 The outgoing Chairman, Councillor Roy Brame, thanked all Members for allowing 
him to represent Breckland Council on their behalf.  
 
2021/22 had been a very good year for him and his wife Karen and they had met 
some very interesting people.  No-one knew whether civic life was going to carry 
on during Covid but with the roll out of the vaccination program, it had allowed for 
a great year; being able to thank and meet the residents of Breckland and 
businesses alike who did so much during the pandemic, helping to get this 
District back on its feet.  
 
He thoroughly enjoyed presenting the Chairman’s recognition certificates to the 
people who had done so much for others throughout the pandemic and for the 

 

4

Agenda Item 2



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

current unfortunate situation in respect of the conflict in Ukraine. 
 
He also thanked Officers and staff especially the Democratic Services Team for 
their tremendous support and assistance and paid particular thanks to his 
secretary, Kathryn Boddy, who had done a fantastic job during the past year in 
arranging his civic events and his donations to various charities. 
 
He then took the opportunity to ask Kathryn to come forward and accept a 
bouquet of flowers for all her hard work and patience throughout his 
chairmanship.  
 
He also thanked the other Districts and the Breckland Members who attended his 
most recent event, the golf day.  Funds raised from that day was donated to 
Scotty’s Little Soldiers, a charity dedicated to supporting bereaved military 
children and young people who had experienced the death of a parent who 
served in the armed forces. He had been astounded that over £2000.00 had 
been raised for this particular charity. It had been a great day, and everyone had 
enjoyed themselves and he had received many emails and letters of thanks, one 
of which had been from Cllr Terry who had provided details of the charity and 
how it had been started.     
 
Lastly, he wanted to thank the better half of team Brame, his wife Karen for her 
support and for accompanying him to various events throughout the year, she 
had been an absolute stalwart throughout.  He then presented her with a gin 
glass engraved with stags, the emblem of Breckland Council. 
 

54/22 ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 Nominations were invited. 

 
After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made, and subject to one abstention, it was RESOLVED that Councillor Mike Nairn 
be elected Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year. 
 
Councillor Nairn signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office. 
 

                  Councillor Nairn in the Chair. 

 

New Chairman's Opening Remarks    
  

 Councillor Nairn stated that it was a huge honour and a privilege to be elected as 
the Chairman of Breckland Council. He was sure that all Members would agree 
that Councillor Brame had done a wonderful job this past year, not only in this 
Chamber but for all the engagements that he and Karen had carried out with the 
communities up and down the District. 
 
On behalf of the Council, the Chairman thanked Councillor Brame for all the hard 
work he had done in promoting Breckland and supporting businesses and 
community groups during the past year.  
 
As the new Chairman, Councillor Nairn was looking forward to working with his 
fellow Councillors and to support him in his role and be cooperative and kind to 
one another.  He welcomed healthy and honest debate as had been seen in 
recent months as it helped this Council make the best decisions on behalf of the 
residents.  He was looking forward to stepping into this role during Her Majesty’s 
Platinum Jubilee year that made it all the more special.    He was delighted that 
this Council was helping to mark this occasion in style by funding a number of 

 

5



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

communities celebrations across the District including the planting of 100s of 
trees as part of the Queen’s canopy, an upcoming bursary which would be a real 
legacy for its recipients.   During his time as Chairman, he planned to support, 
and raise funds for charitable groups that supported the young people within 
Breckland and to shine a light on the dedicated individuals in the communities 
that helped make the Breckland District such a fantastic place to live.  He would 
share more details about his charities at future Council meetings. 
 
Councillors Turner, Colman and Jermy paid tribute to the new Chairman.  
 

55/22 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN (AGENDA ITEM 2)   
  
 After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 

received, and subject to 4 abstentions, it was RESOLVED that Councillor Peter 
Wilkinson be appointed Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 
Councillor Wilkinson signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office. 
 

 

56/22 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3)   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ashby, Askew, Brindle, 

Clarke, Kiddell, Martin, Morton and Nunn. 
 

 

57/22 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 7 April 2022 were agreed as a correct record 

and signed by the former Chairman, Councillor Brame. 
 

 

58/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5)   
  
 None declared. 

 
 

59/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 6)   
  
 There would be an opportunity for Members to look round the Breckland Mobile 

Food Store that would arrive in the carpark at Elizabeth House at 2pm after it had 
completed its rounds for the day, and he hoped that some Members would be able 
to remain at Elizabeth House or return for this visit.   
 

 

60/22 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 The Leader congratulated the Chairman on his appointment, and thanked 

Councillor Brame for all his hard work and efforts over the last 12 months, and in 
his previous role as Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2 years.   
 
As it was the Annual meeting, the Leader felt that it was only right and proper to 
reflect on the past year and look forward to what lied ahead. 
 
Breckland Council still remained the lowest District Council Tax in the country, 
protecting frontline services and continued to invest. Over the last 12 months, this 
Council had supported many communities and businesses across the District in 
countless ways and highlighted just a few of them. 
  
He had been pleased to support the opening of the brand new £1.8m temporary 
accommodation facility in Thetford (Elm House), a strategic asset in the District, 
helping those who were homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.  It was now 

 

6



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

open and was supporting some of the most vulnerable members of the community, 
in both single individuals, couples and families and was a unique asset as Access 
Community Trust had mentioned as being one of the most inspiring facilities that 
they had the privilege to support and manage. 

  
Breckland Council continued to support the very first Social Supermarket in the 
East of England which had proven to be very popular working in partnership with 
Norfolk Community Foundation and the Charles Burrell Centre to deliver that much 
needed asset.   

  
Launched the Breckland Mobile Food Store, providing subsidised food to those 
most in need, with additional support mechanisms in place to address wider 
wellbeing issues such as social isolation and loneliness, supporting not just the 
market towns but the rural communities too. 

  
Worked in partnership with the Daisy Project to support survivors of domestic 
abuse and sexual violence and to help raise awareness across the whole of the 
County not just in Breckland.  

  
Helped 300 residents through social prescribing, trained 150 mental health 
champions and funded over 30 community groups as part of Breckland’s Inspiring 
Communities programme.   
 
Played an active role in creating the right conditions for new and existing local 
businesses to thrive, and as such construction work had started on a new £3.5m 
electricity substation in Snetterton, to enable new businesses to move to the area, 
protecting and creating jobs and opportunities along the Cambridge – Norwich 
Tech Corridor.  
  
Old waste ground had been transformed in Dereham into a new community space 
called the Ellenor Fenn Garden to support the local retailers.  
  
Engaged with over 20,000 residents as part of the Future Breckland project, to 
identify significant projects that could be delivered in Breckland’s five market towns 
to help them bounce back from the challenges of the pandemic and build a strong 
and sustainable economy for the future.   
 
This Council had set its sights on becoming carbon neutral by 2035 and the Leader 
was delighted that big steps forward had already been taken in cutting its carbon 
footprint and helping others to reduce theirs too.  
 
Some of the carbon reduction initiatives that had already taken place across the 
Breckland area included: 
 

 supporting the replacement of 133 streetlights within the district with more 
energy efficient LED bulbs which would not only keep the streets well-lit and 
safe for residents but reduce the carbon impact and running costs.  
 

 Planted hundreds of trees in the district as part of the Council’s commitment 
to protect and enhance the Breckland environment, as well as supporting 
the National Green Canopy initiative for Her Majesty The Queen’s 
upcoming Platinum Jubilee. 
 

 Released hundreds of thousands of pounds through the Community Green 
Grants scheme to support local groups to take positive action for 
themselves and promote environmental sustainability; in such 

7



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

projects/initiatives as: 
 

 installing EV charging points,  
 traditional lighting being replaced with LEDs,  
 supported several schools in creating wildlife gardens and 

allotments, and  
 supported a water management scheme involving a pond and reed-

bed filtration system. 
 

One of the District’s high schools had been awarded a community grant to 
purchase a machine that recycled old plastic – including milk bottles and even 
broken school chairs that could now be melted down into reusable sheets. The 
pupils were currently using this as part of their technology work and were also 
looking at other opportunities for this reused plastic and how to reduce plastics in 
the future. As a thank you, pupils had made a Breckland Stag from recycled plastic 
which would be displayed in Elizabeth House in due course. 
 
Through the ongoing Work Smart initiative, this Council had completely 
modernised its ways of working to meet the needs of residents and businesses. 
 
Not only had the Council embraced agile ways of working, but it had embraced 
new modern technology to further improve services. For example, the new online 
chatbot - Bobbie – means residents can now interact with the Council 24 hours a 
day. Around 80% of the live chat conversations were now automated through 
Bobbie, which meant that the Customer Contact staff could focus on helping 
residents and businesses with more complex queries or those who needed more 
support.  

 
Breckland Council’s website was one of most accessible in the country and was 
now in the top tier of local authorities and public bodies nationally in terms of 
accessibility. 
 
The Leader was proud with the huge progress that this Council had made this year 
and it would continue to ensure that Breckland remained a place where people and 
businesses could thrive.  It was in a really strong position and would be using this 
foundation to deliver further successes in the coming year. 

 
For example, Elm House was now up and running, but the Council was already 
looking to develop new ‘move on’ accommodation in Breckland, extending its 
housing offer and providing even more housing support to those in need. 

 
Further bidding would take place for Levelling Up money, which would lever in 
national funding into Breckland, and help the District to grow and thrive. 

 
In supporting the Breckland 2035 commitments, this Council would be delivering 
further initiatives to become even more environmentally friendly. This could include 
installing solar panels on council-owned buildings to further reduce the carbon 
footprint, and building on the success of Work Smart, this Council would continue 
to be driven by the needs of its residents, building services around local people. 
Not only in the services this Council provided directly, but in those it delivered 
alongside a broad range of excellent local partners.  

 
The Leader was delighted that he would shortly be standing before a panel at the 
LGC Awards along with Officer colleagues to promote the massive impact of this 
Council’s Inspiring Communities programme, which had been shortlisted for its 
partnership approach on some of its most vulnerable residents.  He had high hopes 

8



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

that the excellent work of this Council would continue to be recognised not only in 
this District or Norfolk but across the whole Country.  
 

61/22 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 8)   
  
 Councillor Birt raised a Point of Order under this item.   

 
The Chairman advised that according to the Constitution no questions could be 
asked under this item, but questions could be asked under Agenda item 9. 
 
Councillor Birt felt that the Constitution was incorrect and referred to Standing 
Order No. 5 under section 5.1(h) where there was no time limit mentioned for such 
business and under 5.1(i) there was a time limit but only for the questions without 
notice.    As a supplementary point, Councillor Birt had noticed that the Questions 
on Notice along with the responses had been published within the revised agenda 
pack but had the same file name and he asked when agendas were republished to 
ensure that a different file name was used together with a new date.   
 
In response to the latter question Rob Walker, the Executive Director & Monitoring 
Officer advised that those changes would be taken into account in future.  In regard 
to the supplementary questions, it was clear in the Constitution that Standing Order 
7 was the relevant Standing Order in respect of questions relating the Leader’s 
announcements, Questions on Notice or Questions without Notice. 
 

 

62/22 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 9)  

 

  
 Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group directed his question to the 

Leader.  He had seen a report in the local newspaper about secret talks taking 
place on a proposed County deal for Norfolk and the Leader of Breckland Council 
had been quoted in that report as the Chair of the District Councillors Network.  He 
asked the Leader to confirm what discussions he had been involved in on this 
subject so far and would he confirm whether the imposition of a directly elected 
mayor was a ‘red-line’ for him. 
 
The Leader said that he been quoted in that article in his capacity as the Chairman 
of the District Councils Network and an extraction from that quote had been taken 
from a previous press release, he had not been asked to comment to the press in 
his capacity as the Leader of Breckland Council.  However, in relation to those 
conversations, as Members would be aware from the Levelling Up Framework that 
was published in March 2022 by the Government, those conversations were being 
held at upper tier authorities, at County Councils or Unitary Councils, and Norfolk 
County Council were progressing those conversations, but no decisions had been 
made as yet but Breckland Council needed to be open to any opportunities for 
levelling up the County of Norfolk. 
 
Councillor Atterwill, the Leader of the Independent Group started to ask Councillor 
Hewett, the Executive Member for Property & Projects a question about Barnham 
Broom Golf & Country Club but was stopped when Councillor Hewett raised a Point 
of Order and apologised to Councillor Atterwill.  He did not know the detail of the 
question that was about to be asked but a specific asset had been mentioned, the 
subject of which had been a matter of commercially sensitive conversations with 
this Council.  He respectfully asked that if Councillor Atterwill wanted to ask about 
an individual asset he would get back to him in writing due to the subject matter of 
the question and possibly the response could be prejudicial to this investment and 
could be prejudicial to a business as well as employment opportunities in the 

 

9



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

District.  
 
In response, Councillor Atterwill said that he would still like to ask the question as 
he had sought legal advice and further advice from the Monitoring Officer.  He 
thanked Councillor Hewett for his updated report sent to all Members recently but 
given the constraints the Council found itself under due to the lease agreement for 
the site, he asked if any assurance could be provided that this Council would 
recoup all of its capital outlay for this asset since it was purchased. 
 
In response, Councillor Hewett stated that he could not and would not answer that 
question as Councillor Atterwill was aware from private briefings that had been held 
with Members of the Opposition Groups, and from the briefing note that Councillor 
Atterwill requested, that such discussions would not be held in public about 
confidential commercial agreements that the Council had with any of its tenants. All 
remained confidential as it could have an impact on business performance of the 
tenant or employment opportunities offered to residents.   
 
Councillor Hewett did state however, that Barnham Broom remained a significant 
investment within the authority’s portfolio and along with the Portfolio, it generated 
in the region of £3m of much needed funding for the District that allowed its 
residents and businesses to thrive. This £3m was equivalent to £70 per Band D 
property for every resident within the District as a result of portfolio returns. In 
managing this portfolio, the Council met all of its statutory requirements under the 
Local Government Act 1972, due to the fact that this Council had a first rate, 
excellent Asset Team dedicated to delivering the best returns that it could for this 
Council on behalf of residents moving forward.    
 
Councillor Birt, the Leader of the Green Party, also asked Councillor Hewett a 
question, and referred him to the asset sale in the Council’s budget that was to 
recoup just under £2m. This asset’s total value was well beyond the value of any 
general delegated power and needed to be agreed by Full Council.  This sale was 
to be completed more than a year ago, but the Covid excuse was used to move the 
‘previous line in the sand’, the absolute deadline for this transaction to be 
completed was the 30 April this year after which he had been told that the Heads of 
Terms had fallen, and the Council would be back to square one.  He asked why 
Officers of this Council facilitating private back room deals well into May which they 
had an opportunity to be involved in a ’quote’ investment plans with this asset.  
How was this right?  
 
Rob Walker, the Council’s Monitoring Officer said that Councillor Birt had already 
received a response to his previous question and at the same time been provided 
with the opportunity to ask any follow up questions if he had any further concerns.  
However, the level of detail that was being requested could not be provided and he 
would be happy to speak with Councillor Birt following this meeting.  
 
For the record, Councillor Birt said that he had not received a response as yet.  
 
Councillor Borrett asked the Leader if he would join him in congratulating Councillor 
Brame on his decision to resign as an Independent Member and return as a 
Member of the Conservative Group. 
 
The Leader said that he was delighted that Councillor Brame had returned to the 
Conservative Party but understood his rationale for his resignation at the time.  
 
Councillor Turner directed her question to Councillor Webb, the Executive Member 
for Housing, Health & Communities.  Breckland Council had done a great amount 

10



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

to support local residents and businesses alike during the pandemic.  Now that 
everyone was on the journey out of the pandemic could you advise Members of 
what measures were in place now to assist with on-going hardship issues.   
 
Councillor Webb advised that everyone was talking about the hardship that 
individuals were facing within the communities and Breckland Council had already 
done a great amount to help. The food bus that had already been discussed earlier 
in the meeting was not just for food it was a signpost for individuals who needed 
help to improve their circumstances whether it was debt management or mental 
health, and those individuals could talk to people on the food bus and reach the 
more proactive stages of the process. She had been pleased with the feedback 
thus far and stressed that the route of the food bus was not set in stone and as 
Councillors if they believed that there was such a need in their communities to talk 
to the Communities Team about whether it was possible for the food bus to take a 
different route and urged all Members to take the time to visit the food bus which 
was going to be in the Council car park later today.  
 
Additionally, there was the Early Intervention Fund, this funding could be accessed 
by Ward Members and Multi Agency partners and was available to individuals aged 
18 and over and who lived in the Breckland area.  Households could receive up to 
£300 where they were in financial hardship, or their complex needs were not being 
addressed. Finally, the Council was set to receive an allocation to the Household 
Support fund and plans were already afoot of how best to use these monies.  Other 
support packages included Social Prescribing https://www.breckland.gov.uk/social-
prescribing and Collaboration. The Collaboration was a multi-agency partnership 
working to address low level emerging needs that could be met through early 
interventions https://www.breckland.gov.uk/community/collaboration to ensure that 
residents were connected to the right agencies and the right services when they 
needed support.  
 
Councillor Eagle directed his question to the Leader.  The UK had suffered the 
worst outbreak of Avian Flu with over 100 cases, some businesses had been 
unfortunate enough to experience such outbreaks which had been devastating 
both mentally and financially, and business rates were still being requested by their 
relevant councils.  He asked the Leader if there was to be an outbreak in Breckland 
would such businesses have their business rates waivered.  
 
The Leader stated that he would be happy to meet with Councillor Eagle along with 
the S151 Officer and the Assistant Director, Andrew Holdsworth to set up a Policy 
in quick order if that was the case. He asked Councillor Eagle if he was aware of 
any businesses who were at risk to contact him accordingly and provide them with 
wider business support and meet with DEFRA as well. 
 
Councillor Eagle said that he was not aware of any businesses in Breckland who 
had suffered an outbreak as yet, but he would much rather have such information 
at the forefront if anything should happen and thanked the Leader for his response. 
 
Councillor Colman asked Councillor Suggitt, the Executive Member for Contracts & 
Planning a question in respect of the leisure portfolio. He believed that Breckland 
Council previously allocated some funding to Parkwood Leisure with a view to them 
utilising this funding to make the premises more efficient and asked if Members 
could be updated on how this funding had been spent and the progress to date. 
 
Members were informed that the funding that had been allocated was £111k to go 
towards energy efficiency savings at the two leisure centres in Dereham and 
Thetford.    

11

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/social-prescribing
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/social-prescribing
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/community/collaboration


Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

She confirmed that the sports hall lights in Thetford had been upgraded to LED 
lighting as well as in the toilets and the changing rooms.  Such changes to the 
training room, the meeting room and the first-floor corridor were currently being 
upgraded and by the middle of June, the pool covers were due to be installed at 
both Thetford and at Dereham.   
 
Councillor Wilkinson asked Councillor Suggitt a question about Serco and the new 
bin collection days and asked if she could update Members on any successes or 
any challenges that had occurred in the last month since this change.  
 
Members were informed that there had been some challenges, and the Breckland 
Serco Task & Finish Group had found out from one of its visits to the depot that this 
had mainly been due to staff sickness within the crews.  At the beginning of these 
changes, and from a Breckland perspective, Serco had not been very forthcoming 
in communicating the challenges that they had been experiencing in the early 
stages and there had been some anomalies in the data produced in respect of 
some of the rural areas but now all were in a much better place moving forward.  
She asked Members if any issues should occur in their Wards to report it. 
 
Councillor Kybird stated that Breckland Council had been identified as a recipient 
of Arts Council Funding under the heading Levelling up for Culture and asked the 
Leader how this funding would be applied within the District. 
 
The Leader felt that Breckland Council had a good strong relationship with the Arts 
Council and Andrew Holdsworth, the Assistant Director for Economy & Growth 
along with Councillor Claussen were working through them and others across the 
County of Norfolk to work out how successful bids could be put forward to draw 
down that funding.  An update would be provided to Members accordingly at a later 
date dependent on any successful bids. 
 
Councillor Terry stated that it was illegal to discriminate against someone with a 
disability, but many disabled people still faced challenges within the workplace, this 
included finding work and remaining in it, with only 6% of young adults with 
disabilities or special educational needs in work in Breckland and in Norfolk and 
asked the Leader what Breckland Council were doing to support these young 
adults.   
 
Members were informed that work was still on going with Norfolk County Council 
and the Department of Work & Pensions, the Leader advised that some local 
solutions were being driven forward and there had been some excellent case 
examples in the Midlands which Norfolk & Suffolk New Anglia LEP were looking at.  
He was also pleased to report that unemployment in the Norfolk area was one of 
the lowest in recent years.  
 
Councillor Crane re-iterated what had been said earlier in the meeting about 
Members informing Officers if the food bus was needed in other Wards. Her 
question to Councillor Webb was that District Councillors played a fundamental role 
in the health & wellbeing of their residents and asked what role Breckland Council 
had in the creation of the integrated care system.  
 
In response, Councillor Webb advised that the Government’s Health & Care Bill 
that was currently working its way through Parliament was expected to achieve 
Royal Ascent this summer and this would mean the creation of a Norfolk & 
Waveney Integrated Care System.  The first meeting was held recently with a 
number of different organisations across Breckland to actually state what we as a 
District was going to be doing to improve the health & wellbeing of residents.  She 

12



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

believed that district councils were well placed to know what residents needed.  It 
had been an interesting meeting; the Partnership was bringing together partners 
and commissioners from the NHS across the geographical area and the future was 
going to be very exciting and she would update Members as it progressed. There 
was a budget of over £324k to be spent by March 2023 on delivering projects to 
help communities.  
 
Councillor Monument asked Councillor Webb what the Council was doing to 
support Ukrainian residents coming to the District and supporting those people who 
were hosting them. 
 
Members were informed that across Breckland 56 Ukrainian guests had arrived 
including 22 children.  The Breckland communities had welcomed them with open 
arms and a great deal of work had been done in all the market towns particularly in 
Dereham.  She then explained that when a person was matched, the Private 
Sector Housing Team would carry out necessary home checks to ensure that all 
was suitable and safe.  Ukrainian Officers then joined the hosts to provide them 
with an idea of what support was available for the hosts and the guests when they 
arrived and ensure that proper preparations were in place to receive their guests.  
There was a long-term process of welfare management in place such as thank you 
payments that were triggered on the first welfare check which the Finance Team 
processed. Additionally, there were a number of support schemes that Breckland 
Council was running set up by Government, and more information about these 
schemes could be found on the Breckland website: 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/ukraine-conflict. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Dowling asking if there was a list 
available of people offering their help and who to contact, Councillor Webb advised 
to contact the Communities Team and speak to Samantha Armitage, the Council’s 
Community Services Manager.  
 
Councillor Wickerson asked Councillor Sherwood, the Executive Member for 
Sustainability if Swaffham was at risk of the current epidemic of the felling and 
dramatic pollarding of mature Breckland owned trees in the marketplace.  The 
felling, due to supposed health & safety issues relating to raised pavements, was in 
his opinion absurd and felt that Breckland Council could have used some other 
form of intervention for these mature trees. 
 
Councillor Sherwood felt that it was important to realise that with sustainability and 
the green agenda there were times when certain trees have to be felled or 
pollarded.  The Team was very good at evaluating alternative interventions if at all 
possible but not all trees could be preserved but would be replaced. 
 

63/22 MINUTES (FOR INFORMATION ONLY) (AGENDA ITEM 10)   
  
(a) Cabinet: 25 April 2022    
   
 Councillor Birt stated that the questions that he had asked at this meeting had not 

been included in the Minutes. 
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that he would have the opportunity to raise this 
at the next Cabinet meeting in June. 
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 25 April 2022 were noted. 
 

 

   

13

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/ukraine-conflict


Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

11 

 Action By 

(b) General Purposes Committee: 5 April 2022    
   
 The Minutes of the General Purposes Committee meeting held on 5 April 2022 

were noted. 
 

   
(c) Planning Committee: 12 April 2022    
   
 The Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 12 April 2022 were 

noted. 
 

   
64/22 ANNUAL APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES, CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN 

2022-2023 (AGENDA ITEM 11)  
 

  
 Sarah Barsby, the Assistant Director for People & Governance presented the 

report. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, the report sought Members’ agreement to 
approve the annual appointments of Councillors to Committees and to appoint the 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen for the ensuing year. 
 
The recommendations were read aloud. 
 
Councillor Claussen the Deputy Leader nominated the following Conservative 
Members to the following Committees: 
 

 Governance & Audit Committee: 
Cllr Robert Hambidge to replace Cllr Jane James 

 

 Appointments & Disciplinary Committee: 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt and Cllr Paul Hewett to be appointed as substitutes 

 

 Overview & Scrutiny Commission: 
Cllr Fabian Eagle to be removed as Vice-Chairman,  
Cllr Roy Brame be appointed to the Commission as Vice-Chairman 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson to be appointed as a full Member; and 
Cllr Robert Hambidge to be appointed as a substitute member 

 

 Planning Committee: 
Cllr Brame to be appointed as substitute 

 
Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group nominated the following Labour 
Group Member to the Appointments & Disciplinary Committee: 
 

 Cllr Harry Clarke be appointed as substitute.   
 
All other Labour Group Committee seats would remain the same.  
 
Councillor Jermy also stated that he would be voting against the recommendations 
as the custom practice was for the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission to be a Member of the Opposition Group and not a Member 
of the ruling party as it had been for a number of years, and in his opinion, was not 
a good sign of democracy. 
 
Before confirming his appointments, Councillor Atterwill wanted to convey his 
thanks to former Councillors Ian Martin and Mark Robinson for their services to 
their communities. 

 

14



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

12 

 Action By 

 
He was happy to confirm that the Independent Members nominated for 
Committees still stood as per the report.   
 
Councillor Birt was content with the appointments to the various Committees but 
concurred with Councillor Jermy about the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission, and therefore would not be supporting the second 
recommendation. 
 
The recommendations were proposed and seconded and taken enbloc but any 
Member who wished to vote against or abstain from the recommendations were 
asked to indicate as such. 
Subject to 8 votes against the recommendations and 1 abstention, it was 
 
RESOLVED that, subject to the above appointments: 
 

1. the Council appoints for 2022-2023 the Committees as set out in Appendix 
A of the report; and 
 

2. the Council approves the appointment of the Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and 
Councillors of those Committees as set out in Appendix A of the report, 
subject to the aforementioned changes notified by Group Leaders. 
 

65/22 REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES 2022/23 (AGENDA ITEM 12)   
  
 Sarah Barsby, the Assistant Director for People & Governance presented the 

report. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, the report sought Members’ agreement to 
approve the appointment of representatives on Outside Bodies for 2022/23. 
 
The recommendations were read aloud. 
 
Councillor Claussen the Deputy Leader nominated the following Conservative 
Members to the following Committees: 
 

 Cllr Roy Brame be appointed to the Keystone Development Trust 

 Cllr Alison Webb be appointed to the Norfolk County Playing Fields 
Association 

 Cllr Robert Kybird be appointed to the Norfolk Health Overview Scrutiny 
Committee and Cllr Fabian Eagle to be appointed as his substitute 

 Cllr Jane James be appointed to the Norfolk Arts Forum Steering 
Committee  

 Cllr Lynda Turner be appointed as the substitute Member on the Norfolk 
Police & Crime Panel  

 Cllr Roy Brame be appointed to the Charles Burrell Museum Trust 

 Cllr Ian Sherwood be appointed to the Norfolk Waste Partnership  
 
In response to a query, the Leader explained how these organisations were added 
to the list of Outside Bodies. 
 
No further appointments were made.  
 
After being duly proposed and seconded and subject to 1 abstention, it was 
 
RESOLVED that subject to the aforementioned changes, the most suitable 

 

15



Council 
19 May 2022 

 
 

13 

 Action By 

representatives be appointed to serve on the list of Outside Bodies for 2022/23. 
 

66/22 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 13)   
  
 None. 

 
 

67/22 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 14)  

 

  
 The Leader was pleased to announce the following changes to his Cabinet: 

 

 Councillor Claussen to remain as Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 
Economic Development & Growth 

 Councillor Webb to be appointed as Executive Member for health & 
Communities 

 Councillor Suggitt to be appointed as Executive Member for Strategic & 
Operational Planning 

 Councillor James to be appointed as Executive Member for Customer & 
Corporate Services 

 Councillor Sherwood to be appointed as Executive Member for Waste, 
Environmental health, Licensing & Sustainability  

 Councillor Bambridge to be appointed as Executive Member for Housing & 
Homelessness 

 Councillor Hewett to be appointed as Executive Member for Property, 
Projects & Procurement 

 Councillor Cowen to remain as Executive Member for Finance, Revenue & 
Benefits. 

 
Councillor Kiddle-Morris, Crane and Bowes to remain as Executive Support 
Members. 

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.25 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

16



Engagement List – Chairman 

20 May - 07 July 2022 

  

 

Date Event 

 

Host 

 23 May  Queen’s Green Canopy – tree 

planting 

Beeston Primary School 

27 May Mayor of Thetford Civic Reception 

Carnegie Rooms, Thetford 

Mayor of Thetford – Cllr Jane James 

31 May Elm House – Opening 

Elm House, Thetford 

Leader Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen & The Lady 

Dannatt MBE, Lord-Lieutenant for Norfolk 

15 June Presidents Day 

Thetford Leisure Centre 

Thetford Leisure Centre 

23 June  Armed Forces Flag Raising 

Elizabeth House Breckland Council 

29 June 48th Fighter Wing Change of 

Command Ceremony 

RAF Lakenheath 

The Commander, Third Air Force, Major 

General Dereck C France 

29 June  Platinum Jubilee Reception 

Long Acre Suite, Royal Nfk 

Showground 

The Lady Dannatt MBE – Lord Lieutenant of 

Norfolk 

1 July Royal Anglian Regiment Reception 

Langley School, Norwich 

Colonel of Royal Anglian Regiment, 

Lieutenant General Ralph Wooddiss CBE 

3 July Desert Rat Annual Open Day & 

Memorial Service 

Cromwell Tank Memorial, Thetford 

Forest 

Lieutenant Colonel Simon Copley-Smith, 

Chairman Desert Rat Assoc. 

6 July The High Sheriff Reception 

Shotesham Lodge, Norwich 

The High Sheriff of Norfolk, David McLeavy 

Hill DL 

 

 

17

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List – Vice-Chairman 

20 May - 07 July 2022 

 

Date Event Host 

29 May Mayor of Thetford Civic Service 

Kings House, Thetford 

Mayor of Thetford – Cllr Jane James 

12 June City Service 

Norwich City Hall followed by 

Procession to Norwich Cathedral 

The Lord Mayor of Norwich & The Sheriff of 

Norwich 

 

 

18



Questions with Notice under Standing Order No. 6 – Full Council, 7 July 2022 
 

 

QUESTION 1: 
Councillor Philip Morton to Executive Member for Waste, Environmental Health, Licensing and 
Sustainability: 
 
When will a review of performance against the Eunomia report guidelines for achieving net zero be 
made available with updated carbon emissions data ? 
 

RESPONSE:  
 
A report is scheduled on the Council’s forward plan for Cabinet in November where both the carbon 
footprints for 2020-21 and 2021-22 to be published. Going forward these will be published annually in 
October. 
  

 

QUESTION 2: 
Councillor Philip Morton to the Leader: 
 
Recent changes to Building Regulations, effective from 15th June, are a positive move in tackling climate 
change and I fully support their introduction. Can the leader confirm resources are in place to ensure the 
Building Regulations are complied with ? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 
The changes to building regulations provide a step forward in helping to tackle climate change in line 
with the Councils objectives. They will be considered through the building regulation application process, 
whether that is by the Council in its role as a Local Building Control Authority or by an approved 
Inspector. There are, therefore, sufficient resources in place as it is not anticipated that additional 
applications will be generated by the changes.   
 

 

 

QUESTION 3: 
Councillor Tim Birt to the Executive Member for Property, Projects & Procurement: 
 
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY DEBT 
As you confirmed “there is no specific mechanism to keep all members informed” about the 
following important financial indicator I request an update with our current position: 
(a) Within our commercial property portfolio, what is the value of outstanding debt owed to the 
Council 90 days after the original settlement date? 
(b) Within our commercial property portfolio, what is the value of debt written off in the current 
tax year (commencing 6-April-2022) to date? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 

(a) - £317,312.98 
I have spoken to the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission who believes, like me, that this 
information should best be provided as part of the KPIs of the Council moving forward.    

(b) - Nil 
 

 

19

Agenda Item 6



 

QUESTION 4: 
Councillor Tim Birt to the Executive Member for Economic Development & Growth: 

 
HATCH REPORT 
In March 2021 the “Future Breckland: Thriving People & Places” was announced, the press release 
stated: 
“With a specific focus on Breckland's five market towns, Dereham, Thetford, Attleborough, 
Watton and Swaffham, the programme will focus on identifying significant projects that can 
be delivered in our towns for the benefit of the District as a whole. This work should put 
Breckland in pole-position to leverage new external funding ...” 
(a) What was the total value paid to ‘economic specialists’ Hatch for this project? 
(b) What was the total value paid to ‘urbanists’ We Made That for this project? 
(c) What is the value of the ‘new external funding’ received to date as a direct result of this 
project? 
(d) How much ‘new external funding’ does the Council expect to receive over the three years as 
a direct result of this project? 
(e) How will we report the return on investment for this project? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 
Following the Council’s decision to support the project – initially known as ‘Town Delivery Plans – in 
October 2019, I am pleased that we have been able to bring forward one of the biggest pieces of 
engagement and planning in the District’s history. This should see us well prepared to join resources, 
secure funding, and help create thriving places across Breckland. To answer your specific questions: 
  

a. The total value paid to Hatch for this project is £232,845   
b. The total value paid to We Made That is £0. We Made That have worked as part of the consortia 

of experts led by Hatch.  
c. The value of new external funding received as a direct result of this work to date is estimated at 

£178k.  
d. It should be noted that the focus of the project is not limited to just securing public sector 

investment and is intended to help facilitate private sector investment, coordinate activity and is 
not limited to projects which require significant capital. That said, we expect a minimum ROI of 
5:1. Beyond this, the work is particularly focussed around potential high-impact investments 
which by their nature are difficult to guarantee. Over that same period we expect the project to 
enable high-quality bids far in excess of the 5:1 figure. Whilst, given the intensely competitive 
nature of funding, and the relative prioritisation of Breckland in the Government’s Levelling Up 
Agenda, we cannot guarantee success in this regard we are confident this positions Breckland in 
the strongest position possible with a high-quality evidence base and reasoned and considered 
interventions based around all of our market towns.  

e. In its forming stage ROI is being tracked through the Council’s existing assurance framework, 
including oversight by the Thriving Places Board. For implementation a paper is being prepared 
for the Council to consider in the Autumn to support adoption of the finalised plans, evidence 
base and district wide prospectus. This will include recommendations of wider reporting and 
assurance, including the role of a multidisciplinary Board, and integration with wider Council 
functions including O&S and other key member groups.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

20



QUESTION 5: 
Councillor Tim Birt to the Executive Member for Health & Communities: 
 
COST OF LIVING CRISIS 
Considering that the Bank of England Governor has warned inflation will persist longer in the UK 
and hints at further interest rate rises; and with a further rise in the energy price cap due in the autumn; 
and Breckland’s large rural population relying on oil for heating, which is not price capped: 
(a) What measures are we taking to identify those at risk of being unable to pay for basic 
necessities such as food or energy or housing costs this coming autumn? 
(b) What funding have we set aside to assist those in need? 
(c) What external funding will we be able to acquire? 
(d) Is the available funding adequate to mitigate the risk? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 
(a) What measures are we taking to identify those at risk of being unable to pay for basic necessities such 
as food or energy or housing costs this coming autumn? 
 
Where we have consent to do so, we hold the data of all residents who we have supported either 
directly or indirectly to allow us to proactively reach out where we believe they may be at risk of needing 
further support.  
 
The Council allocates over £50,000 per annum to commission Citizens Advice services across the District, 
these services deliver important support to residents who may be affected by increasing cost of living 
costs. 
 
Breckland Council facilitates a multi-agency system of support via our Early Help Collaboration meetings. 
This forum brings together up to 40 statutory and voluntary organisations to work collaboratively to 
prevent issues from reaching crisis point, this includes addressing financial matters such as unexpected 
costs or longer term solutions such as debt advice and budget management.  
  
The organisations who attend Collaboration, including Council services such as our Housing teams and 
Community Connectors, are at the heart of identifying residents in need and we provide the mechanism 
to seek solutions through our network of support.  

 
Furthermore, the housing team worked with the 6 other district councils and partners to draft a press 
release that led to an article being share in the EDP, encouraging residents to contact councils and other 
organisations as early as possible for assistance:  https://www.edp24.co.uk/news/norfolk-homeless-
prevention-services-seeing-rise-enquiries-crisis-9098722 
  
(b) What funding have we set aside to assist those in need? 
  
Direct solutions to address the financial challenges our residents face, include: 
  
Early Intervention Fund – a Breckland fund totalling just over £30,000 available to partners and 
Members to apply to on behalf of residents they are working with who are in need of financial assistance 
to avoid them reaching crisis. Claims are reviewed and assessed by Early Help Collaboration partners and 
the outcome is shared with the referrer and where applicable, the resident directly. Details of the criteria 
for this fund are available on Member pages.  
  
Nourishing Norfolk – Breckland Council has contributed funding to both Breckland Mobile Food Store 
and The Burrell Supermarket, both of which provide healthy and nutritious food at a reduced price, as 
well as wider support by connecting to our Early Help Collaboration network for additional needs. The 
Nourishing Norfolk Network is delivered by Norfolk Community Foundation and is helping to combat 

21

http://webdefence.global.blackspider.com/urlwrap/?q=AXicJUzLTsMwEDQnDpz4iB7ttA4hLRIChEQlHieERI-ps0lX2dip13HI18Kn4MJopHlIM5dn4udciO8LITzNumgU-6j6Csk4G7wjZVwvdPHxGOnVLVerMi9Fi0SqHptmvt97MB1Vtlati2rsxCGEgW-yzBCaLmAPiue-sgHM6SnLX9q35xiG-Wu_vt7Z7SeYYlccy-373Xj7t13kDwv9lDhNk4J60FdpmJ5TY2HikzjfOOrkwfVAwCwHDxFsQGclg49ogJMBtK30yCDBHkf0mFqTMrLcLDfrUmvxj19zvlcd&Z
http://webdefence.global.blackspider.com/urlwrap/?q=AXicJUzLTsMwEDQnDpz4iB7ttA4hLRIChEQlHieERI-ps0lX2dip13HI18Kn4MJopHlIM5dn4udciO8LITzNumgU-6j6Csk4G7wjZVwvdPHxGOnVLVerMi9Fi0SqHptmvt97MB1Vtlati2rsxCGEgW-yzBCaLmAPiue-sgHM6SnLX9q35xiG-Wu_vt7Z7SeYYlccy-373Xj7t13kDwv9lDhNk4J60FdpmJ5TY2HikzjfOOrkwfVAwCwHDxFsQGclg49ogJMBtK30yCDBHkf0mFqTMrLcLDfrUmvxj19zvlcd&Z


food insecurity to ensure that no-one goes hungry. Their ongoing efforts are likely to see more ‘food 
hubs’ opening in Breckland in the near future and we are committed to continue to support these 
ventures.  
  
Household Support Fund (2) – The 2nd round of Household Support Fund is available to residents who 
need financial support to access food, energy and water, and wider essentials such as new appliances to 
enable them to cook food. The funding must be apportioned evenly to pension aged residents, families 
with children, and other households in need such as those not in receipt of welfare benefits but in need 
of assistance. Household Support Funding is issued to upper tier Councils and it is for them to agree how 
they distribute to district councils. It should be spent by 30th September 2022.  
  
This time around, the allocation to Breckland Council is to provide support to pension age residents only 
however, we can also apply to a small central emergency fund for housing costs such as essential repairs 
to improve energy efficiency.  
  
The breakdown of Breckland funds is: 

 £114,000 Household Support Fund for pension age residents 
 £33,616 central pot for emergency housing costs 

 
The first round of Household Support Fund saw Breckland Council issue over £180,000 to almost 700 
families between December 2021 and March 2022. In addition, between March 2020 and December 
2021, we issued over £45,000 of our own hardship fund to those financially impacted by covid-19.  
  
The government has recently announced a further allocation of Household Support Funding from 
October 2022. We are awaiting further guidance on how this should be apportioned but will use the 
learnings from the previous two rounds of distributing funds to ensure it goes to those most in need.  

 
Discretionary Housing Payments – available for households who are claiming the relevant housing-
related benefits to help top up the rent shortfall or mitigate some arrears due to the benefit not meeting 
the full costs, for a short period to help through a crisis time. 
  
(c) What external funding will we be able to acquire? 
  
Additional Household Support Fund initiatives in place for residents experiencing financial hardship 
include: 
  
Norfolk Assistance Scheme 
The Norfolk Assistance Scheme (NAS) helps people who are in financial hardship and cannot pay their 
living costs, they can offer financial assistance with living costs to: 

         Pay for petrol or your transport costs to enable you to get to work 
         Give you a food voucher to spend at a supermarket 
         Give you a voucher to buy school clothes from a uniform supplier 
         Make a gas or electricity meter pre-payment via Paypoint if you have run out 
         Help with moving and storage costs if you have to set up a new home 
         Provide an immediate small cash payment for daily expenses in an emergency 

 
Cost of Living Vouchers 

         Support payment available to families eligible for Free School Meals  

         Payment awarded as Eden red vouchers.  

         This is managed directly through Schools 

 

Anglian Water 

 Supporting customers to clear their water debt arrears and signpost to wider support 

22



 Targeting Norfolk residents over the age of 65 and on an Anglian Water social tariff 

 This is managed directly by Anglian Water 

  
VCSE Offer managed by Norfolk Community Foundation 

 Organisations can apply for funding to distribute up to £250 per household where there is an 

older person/s, individuals with disabilities and their carers  

 The £250 payment can be claimed once per household, and there is no minimum or 

maximum number of people per household.  

 This funding complements the existing support provided through the organisation’s services 

 This should include signposting and provision of information to those who are particularly 

vulnerable to the increasing cost of living. 

 Successful applications will also receive an additional 10% of the total applied for to assist 

with the administration and distribution costs associated with delivering the funding 

 This will be automatically applied to each grant payment and does not need to be applied for 

separately – NCF are funding this via their wider fundraising reserves. 

 

Additionally, the Government Cost of Living Support is outlined as follows: 

 Energy Bills Support Scheme doubled to a one-off £400 

 £650 one-off Cost of Living Payment for those on means tested benefits 

 One-off £300 Pensioner Cost of Living Payment 

 £150 Disability Cost of Living Payment 

Full guidance on the conditions surrounding each of these payments can be found on the government 

website, we would be happy to share details if required.  

 

This is in addition to the Council tax rebate issued in April, that provided a payment of £150 to 

households living in council tax bands A – D. The total number of residents paid directly into their bank 

accounts between the end of April and mid-June was 45935, that’s a total of £6.8m in support to help 

our residents with rising cost of living. In June, over 7500 residents received a credit to their Council Tax 

account, totalling another £1.1m.  

 

Furthermore, Breckland Council has an additional £240,900 to allocate through their own Council Tax 
rebate discretionary scheme.  Although the scheme runs to the end of November ARP aim to make the 
majority of awards by the end of August.  This additional funding will provide financial support to 
vulnerable households and those on low incomes in band E-H properties.  It will also provide additional 
top up support to those in band A-D properties on low incomes. 
 

(d) Is the available funding adequate to mitigate the risk? 

  
Whilst we cannot guarantee that available funding will mitigate the risk, we do believe we have a strong 
system of support in place to work with residents to overcome issues that are either as a result of 
financial hardship, or to prevent hardship from worsening. 
 

 

QUESTION 6: 
Councillor Tim Birt to the Executive Member for Property, Projects and Procurement: 

 
CAR PARK SURVEY 
Some Cabinet members have assigned a pejorative label to a group of users of Queen’s Square Car 
Park in Attleborough despite them abiding by all rules at the time. Breckland Council has 

23



subsequently trialled a time limit and launched a survey to seek feedback on the car park: 
(a) Do the statements previously made and widely reported in newspaper introduce bias or 
predetermined the outcome of the survey? 
(b) Is there a risk that those so labelled will not respond to the survey either because they feel 
there views are already disregarded or for fear of retribution? 
(c) How will the Council ensure it receives full representation from all previous users of the car 
park, including those who wish to use park and use public transport to access Norwich? 
(d) How will the Council evaluate any climate impact of the new car park time limit? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 

a) No. Our approach is to provide a feedback portal rather than a survey which enables us to 
capture the full scope of opinions without the risk of conscious or unconscious bias.  

 
b) No. We have engaged with users of the car park in a number of different ways to actively 

encourage them to use the portal, and have already received a number of responses with a 
range of different opinions.  

 
c) Whilst we cannot obtain information from every previous user of the car park, we have ensured 

through a high level of engagement that regular users have been signposted to the portal. That 
includes those who commute out of town and is reflected in the feedback received so far. 

 
d) The parking trial is a response to a specific request, and resulting feedback is not designed to 

evaluate a climate impact: the portal is focused on obtaining comments from users in relation to 
the ambition of the trial, which is to encourage a churn of vehicles within the Queen’s Square car 
park allowing our businesses in the town, and shoppers to the town, to benefit. 

 
 

 

QUESTION 7: 
Councillor Tim Birt to the Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and Benefits: 
 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT vs RESERVES 
This council has committed large amounts of expenditure on different things at different times. A 
common way of getting support for this expenditure is to call it an investment. A prudent business 
would monitor the return-on-investment and ensure the revenue extracted did not deplete capital 
value. In a well operated system revenue could then be used to support Council services and build a 
reserve for future capital investment. 
(a) Please would you show a graph of how the level of reserves have changed alongside the 
total value of the Council’s capital investment assets for the last 20 years? 
(b) What is the expectation that the Council will need to borrow money in the next couple of 
years? 
 

RESPONSE: 
 

(a) The graph below shows the balances held in ‘Usable Reserves’ (excluding the General Fund) 
alongside the accounting valuations of assets categorised as ‘Investment Assets’ under the CIPFA 
Accounting Code at 31st March each year.   

 

24



 
 
It should be noted that under the CIPFA Accounting Code Investment Assets does not include any assets 
categorised as finance leases. 
 

(b) The Annual Treasury Management report on this Council agenda shows that Breckland currently 
has a small borrowing requirement, but this is being managed through internal borrowing from 
balances whilst interest rate returns remain low.   
Any future borrowing needs will be determined by the budget, medium term financial plan and 
capital programme over the coming years. 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

Usable reserves £'000 Investment assets £'000

25



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

CABINET 
 

Held on Monday, 6 June 2022 at 9.30 am in 
Attleborough Town Hall, Queen's Square, Attleborough NR17 2AF 

 
 

PRESENT  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
 

Cllr Paul Hewett 
Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
Also Present  
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Keith Martin 
Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen 
 

Cllr Vera Dale 
Cllr Terry Jermy 
 

 
In Attendance  
Claire Burton - Organisational Development Performance 

Manager 
Alison Chubbock - Section 151 Officer & Assistant Director Finance 
Jason Cole - Executive Director 
Andrew Holdsworth - Assistant Director Economy and Growth 
Stephen James - Executive Director 
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Rob Walker - Executive Director & Monitoring Officer 
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader 
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 
 Action By 

 

  
49/22 MINUTES   
  
 Councillor Birt was disappointed that the previous Cabinet meeting had not 

been recorded or live-streamed and the minutes had not accurately recorded 
what had been said. 
 
He referred to minute reference: 43/22 - HSAZ Swaffham Conservation Area 
Appraisal (CAA) Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP) and 
Masterplan Final Documents; paragraph 9 and stated that his question 
should read: “why the report claimed in Section 5.1.2 that there were no direct 
adverse implications for our carbon footprint at the same time as restricting 
solar PVs”. 
 
He also referred to his question that he raised in respect of car parks in 

 

Public Document Pack

26

Agenda Item 8a



Cabinet 
6 June 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
Swaffham where the Chairman had responded by saying it had been ‘a 
loaded question’ and was disappointed that this had not been reflected in the 
minutes. 
 
The Chairman said that his response reflected his own personal point of view 
and felt that Councillor Birt’s second question had been recorded accurately 
within the minutes.  
 
In relation to Councillor Birt’s first point in respect of Minute No. 43/22, 
Members agreed that the Minutes should be amended to support the 
question in relation to the solar panels. 
 
Subject to this amendment, the minutes of the meeting held on 25 April were 
approved.  

  
50/22 APOLOGIES   
  
 An apology had been received from Councillor Ian Sherwood.   
  
51/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
  
52/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 None.  
  
53/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 The Chairman welcomed non-Members to the meeting.  
  
54/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 The Chairman thanked everyone across the district who were involved with 

the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee celebrations.  The £12,000 of funding for 
events meant an enormous amount to people and it was fantastic to see so 
many smiling faces across the social media enjoying celebrations.  

 

  
55/22 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 Councillor Webb, the Executive Member for Health and Communities had 

been honoured to attend some of the Jubilee celebrations and had received 
nothing but thanks for what Breckland Council had made possible. 
 
Members were informed that applications for the match funding scheme 
available to Parish Councils, community groups and any projects would be 
closing on 17th June. There would be further rounds available throughout the 
course of the year. 
In addition, Councillor Webb encouraged applications for the Bursary Scheme 
that had been made available for those returning to study who could request 
help towards equipment or study fees. 

 

  
56/22 QUARTER 4 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22   
  
 Councillor Phil Cowen, the Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and  

27



Cabinet 
6 June 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
Benefits presented the report that provided information on the actual full year 
financial position of the Council as of 31 March 2022. 
 
It was reported that in terms of the revenue outturn the Council would only 
require a contribution from the General Fund of £25k in order to balance the 
account.  This was a significantly better position than was anticipated at 
Quarter 1 when it was anticipated that a contribution of £531k would be 
required which demonstrated the commitment to achieve efficiencies without 
the detrimental impact on service delivery. 
 
The Evolve Programme would continue to deliver efficiencies in line with the 
corporate objectives to provide the best possible value for money to the 
residents and businesses throughout Breckland. 
 
The Capital account had £2m carried forward to subsequent years and whilst 
it was not normally healthy to have such large amounts being carried forward 
there were areas such as ICT and the waste vehicles refresh which was not 
in a position to expend the sums involved. 
 
Councillor Hewett commended the team for delivering what it said it would 
which was phenomenal given the current financial climate.  
 
Councillor Jermy was pleased to see that there had been a significant 
reduction to reduced repair costs of the footway lighting.  He had assumed 
that there had been a calculation made on the carbon saving and would like 
to see this reported on.  He went on to say that the pathways owned by 
Breckland were in an appalling condition and asked if there was a programme 
of works as he felt that residents would like to see this.  In addition, he noted 
that the housing register demand had increased by 30% and the housing 
benefit claims referenced an increase of 27% and asked if there was a 
correlation between increased demand and costs as well as costs and if the 
budget was sufficient for this year. 
 
Councillor Hewett would report back to Councillor Jermy on the rolling budget 
and programme of footway repairs.  He added that he had data relating to the 
carbon saving of street lighting which equated to 11kw since the new LED 
lights had been installed.  
 
Councillor Cowen responded to say he believed there had been a correlation 
between increased demand and costs and would ask the Head of ARP to 
provide a written response.  
 
Councillor Birt hoped to have seen a risk assessment based on pushing 
funding forward but as there was a high inflation rate and a lack of skilled 
workers he felt that this would be a risk to the Council and its ability to deliver 
on projects.  It was confirmed that the report was based on looking back, 
rather than forward, and therefore increase in inflation would be considered in 
future reports.  
 
Options 

1) That the report and appendix be noted and Recommend to Full 
Council: 

1) That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of 
£1,932,375 be carried forward into 2022-23 to support projects in 
progress. 

28



Cabinet 
6 June 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
2) That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed 

in appendix B be approved. 
3) That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 

2022-23 capital programme as detailed in appendix C be 
approved 

 
2) Do nothing. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of 
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary and 
protecting the General fund balance. 
 
To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial 
year. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet note the report and appendices; and  
 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 
1) That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,932,375 be 

carried forward into 2022-23 to support projects in progress. 
 

2) That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2022-23 
capital programme as detailed in appendix B of the report be approved. 

 
3) That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed in 

appendix C of the report be approved. 
  
57/22 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22   
  
 Councillor Jane James, Executive Member for Customer and Corporate 

Services provided Members with an overview of the Council’s performance 
for the period 1 January 2022 and 31 March 2022.  The report had also been 
presented at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting on 26 May 
where further information had been requested. 
 
Claire Burton, Organisational Delivery and Performance Manager added that 
information would be forwarded to the Commission on the number of food 
businesses ratings from satisfactory and above and also the other points of 
clarification raised at Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
Councillor Hewett said it had been an impressive set of Key Performance 
Indicators and was pleased to see the commercial property yield had been 
significantly higher than forecasted, a 6.7% return which paid significant 
benefits to residents of the District. 
 
Councillor Birt added that it had been raised at the recent Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission as well as the Town and Parish Forum that the 
telephone number was not easily accessible and asked if it was, what effect 
that would have on the chatbot.   He also asked for the success rate on the 
Chatbot. 
 
Members were informed that the telephone number was accessible and that 

 

29



Cabinet 
6 June 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
information on the Chatbot data would be provided. 
 
Members noted the contents of the report. 

  
58/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 25 July at 9.30am in the 

Anglia Room, The Conference Centre, Elizabeth House, Walpole loke, 
Dereham were noted.  

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.33 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

30



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

Held on Thursday, 26 May 2022 at 10.00 am in the 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 
 

 
PRESENT  
Cllr Rhodri Oliver (Chairman) 
Cllr Roy Brame (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Fabian Eagle 
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Vera Dale 
Cllr Robert Kybird 
 

Cllr Mike Nairn 
Cllr Lynda Turner 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson 
Cllr Roger Atterwill (Substitute Member) 
Cllr Harry Clarke (Substitute Member) 
Cllr Robert Hambidge (Substitute Member) 
 

 
Also Present  
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Paul Claussen 
Rose Shisler, Anglian Water, 
Stakeholder Engagement 
Programme Lead 

Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Grant Tuffs, Anglian Water, Regional 
Engagement Manager 

 
In Attendance  
Claire Burton - Organisational Development Performance 

Manager 
Adele Newsome - Customer Experience Manager 
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer 
Rosie Hill - Digital Project Manager 
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner 

 
 
 Action By 
29/22 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2022 were agreed as a 

correct record. 
 

   
30/22 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bushell, Jermy 

and Wickerson. Councillors Atterwill, Clarke and Hambidge were in 
attendance as substitutes. 

 

   
31/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 None.  
   
32/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
   
33/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 None.  

31

Agenda Item 8b



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

   
34/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 None.  
   
35/22 AI PROJECT UPDATE   
  
 Councillor Birt raised a point of order. When asked under which aspect 

of the council's constitution he wished to raise his point of order 
Councillor Birt cited Section 100b of the Local Government Act 1972. 
He stated that at the Overview and Scrutiny meeting on 9 September 
2021 he had raised some queries around the introduction of Chatbot 
regarding the security of personal data and had concerns over the full 
AI implementation saying that it would need to access huge amounts of 
personal data and asked how it could be to be protected. He pointed out 
that in the minutes of that meeting it stated that ‘it was agreed that it 
would be beneficial for this item to come back to the Scrutiny 
Commission in February or March 2022 in order that the Commission 
could look at the security of data to ensure it was managed correctly 
and assist in anticipating any future problems or issues.’ He asserted 
that section 100b had been breached as no report had been provided 
on this matter at least 5 working days prior to the committee meeting 
commencing. 
 
The Chairman rejected the point of order, giving the following reasons. 
The agenda was a matter for the Chairman to set at the Chairman's 
discretion. The Chairman had not required such a report be provided by 
the team as part of this agenda item and as such no requirement under 
the 5-day rule arose. He suggested that the presentation from the team 
under the item be heard by the Commission and if the Commission 
concluded that a report was required it could be requested by way of 
proposal. Where such a report formed part of a future agenda item it 
should be provided to the Commission in line with all relevant statutory 
requirements. 
 
The Customer Experience Manager, Adele Newsome and the Digital 
Project Manager, Rosemary Hill, gave a presentation on the 
background of the project and what they hoped could be achieved in the 
future. The Customer Experience Manager explained that the vision 
within the Customer Access Strategy was to provide high quality and 
easy to use services designed with the customer in mind. That vision 
included access to digital channels providing convenience and choice 
and a digital customer service agent 24/7, developing on-line services 
so good that customers would choose to use that channel and therefore 
free up capacity for agents to support those with more complex needs. 
The Digital Project Manager explained the timeline so far from April 
2021 to March 2022, and the Benefits for customers which included 
24/7 access to the digital Customer Service Agent and live chat fallback 
available between 9am-5pm. Data analysis exceeded expectations with 
80% of customers getting the right information and were happy with the 
support given. 
 
The Digital Project Manager explained the way forward which would 
include adding personalisation of conversations and supporting the 
Annual Canvass Process which formed one of the busiest peaks after 
the Council Tax Billing period. The integration of Alexa was hoped to roll 

 

32



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

out at the end of the summer and a demonstration followed on how this 
might work, and the work needed to improve the system. 
 
Councillor Birt asked about data security. The Customer Experience 
Manager said that they had conducted a full data impact assessment 
and as the project progressed it would be continually reviewed, it did not 
currently capture, or machine learn any personal information. The DPIA 
element still needed to be carried out on the Alexa part of the project 
and the Chatbot did not currently hold any personal information only 
generic. Customers would be able to sign up to the Alexa privacy policy, 
when introduced and this would also include a sign up to Breckland 
Council’s privacy policy and a terms of use policy which would all be 
checked with the Data Protection Officer and Information Governance 
Officer. 
 
Councillor Birt proposed that a detailed report of the security 
implications and the Data security of this product and its future 
development be presented to this Commission. This proposal was duly 
seconded, and Members voted that a report be brought back to this 
Committee and added to the work programme for further discussion. 

   
36/22 ANGLIAN WATER   
  
 Anglian Water representatives, Regional Engagement Manager, Grant 

Tuffs and Stakeholder Engagement Programme Lead, Rose Shisler 
provided a detailed presentation to Members of the Commission. 
 
It was explained that Anglian Water was the largest water and water 
recycling company in England by geographic area, serving almost 
seven million customers.  East Anglia was the driest region in the UK 
which was prone to the impacts of climate change including drought and 
flash floods and was one of the UK’s fastest-growing regions outside of 
South-eastern London. 
 
The four key goals for 2020-2025, guided by the views and needs of 
stakeholders were: 
 

 To make life better for customers, every single day 

 To deliver 2020-2025 Final Determination 

 To deliver identified business priorities 

 To create a sustainable future for the region 
 
Over the next five years Anglian Water would be investing over eight 
hundred million pounds as part of their Water Industry Natural 
Environment Programme. 
 
It was committed to continue as environmental custodians and make 
river health a focus with the following points: 
 

 The statutory need to tackle storm overflows ensuring 
prioritisation through the price review process 

 A new, jointly owned national plan for rivers 

 An end to the automatic right to connect 

 A ban on wet wipes that did not meet fine to Flush standards 

 Collaborative action to restore rivers and natural habitats 
 

 

33



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

Combined Storm Overflows (CSOs) were explained in more detail, how 
they worked and how monitors were being installed to ensure minimal 
impact on the environment. 
 
Planned investments across Breckland included: 
 

 £9million – growth schemes in Swaffham, Thetford and 
Attleborough 

 £5million – Watton WRC compliance scheme 

 £5million – Water infrastructure National investment Programme 
(WRCs) 

 £1.5million – first time sewerage scheme at Rockland St Peter 

 £800,000 – dosing schemes to mitigate Lead 

 Event Duration Monitors being installed at 14 sites 
 
It was explained that Anglian Water were pledging to Get River Positive 
by 2030 and were striving to do no harm to rivers and do everything 
possible to ensure they thrive with the five Get River Positive 
commitments: 
 

 Ensure storm overflows and sewage treatment works do not 
harm rivers 

 Create more opportunities for everyone to enjoy the regions’ 
rivers 

 Support others to improve and care for rivers 

 Enhance rivers and create new habitats so wildlife could thrive 

 Be open and transparent about their performance and plans 
 
Nutrient Neutrality in relation to Anglian Water was explained to the 
Commission.  In March 2022, Natural England had written to authorities 
whose areas contained habitat sites that were in an unfavourable 
conservation status, where additional nutrient loads, such as from 
development, may have an adverse effect. The advice stated that 
planning applications and plans affecting such habitats should be 
carefully considered and mitigation provided to ensure that there were 
no adverse effects and to meet the requirements of the Conservation of 
Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended). Anglian Water 
had no direct influence over the requirements and would accept flows 
from new developments once the local planning authority and Natural 
England were satisfied that the relevant tests had been achieved, 
planning permission had been granted by the LPA and had been 
lawfully implemented by the developer. 
 
Councillor Birt asked how many Combined Storm Overflows (CSOs) 
had been removed in the region and how the amount of discharge had 
changed over time. He also felt that the £30million pound investment 
over Breckland did not seem sufficient for the work he felt was needed.  
 
Mr Tuffs confirmed that three hundred CSOs had already been removed 
out of an amount of one thousand five hundred. Ms Shisler stated that 
last year there had been an average of twenty-seven instances per 
CSO and the target for the current year was twenty-five instances per 
CSO.  
 
Councillor Eagle asked about sewage capacity sufficiency and how it 
was calculated. Mr Tuffs explained that Anglian Water were not 

34



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

statutory consultees in planning applications and that there was an 
automatic right to connect in England and they were lobbying hard to 
Central Government to have this changed. He said Anglian Water had 
highly qualified and skilled technicians and modellers to look at 
connections to assess impact and likely additional flows to ensure that 
the current systems could cope.  
 
Councillor Kybird highlighted that microplastics had been identified as a 
new source of pollution and asked if this was seen as a problem and if 
this was monitored by Anglian Water. Ms Shisler explained that they 
had screens and filters in place that were set to industry standard and 
were working across the whole industry to work together to improve this 
along with the amount of road run-off.  
 
Councillor Brame said he felt that there was insufficient information 
provided by Anglian Water to inform residents on the services that were 
available to customers in all forms of communication to cover all ages 
and abilities. He also asked the Chairman if Breckland Council could do 
more to work with Anglian Water to provide more information to 
residents either on the internet or through the magazine. Ms Shisler 
explained that Anglian Water did have a Priority Services Register 
which offered extra support to residents in need of additional 
assistance. Councillor Dale agreed and felt that it was vitally important 
to provide residents with the correct information on who to contact 
before residents were financially out of pocket and paying for services 
that were provided free of charge by Anglian Water. The Chairman 
asked for this to be relayed to the Executive to investigate different 
methods of working with Anglian Water and communicating this 
information to residents. 
 
Councillor Bambridge asked how realistic Anglian Water were with 
Nutrient Neutrality and achieving no pollution by 2030 and whether they 
thought this would be achievable. Furthermore, the twenty rivers within 
the Anglian Water area that they had said they were committed to 
ensuring were clean and of the highest possible quality, he asked if any 
of those rivers would be within the Breckland area. Mr Tuffs explained 
that reaching the no pollution target would be a challenge, Anglian 
Water would be working as much as possible, along with other partners 
to ensure rivers were clean; however, there were other factors involved 
that were out of their control. He said he would send further details on 
Nutrient Neutrality out to Members of the Commission. At this point in 
time, he could not confirm which rivers would be within the twenty 
chosen or if they would be within the Breckland area, but once this was 
confirmed he would share the information with the Members. 
 
The Chairman asked for more clarification on the stated 4% of the 
reasons for adverse river health that were due to Anglian Water’s 
activities. It was explained that each river was given a set target by 
DEFRA in the river basin management plan, in the UK most rivers were 
given a target of average and organisations were funded to ensure the 
target was reached. In the UK storm overflows contributed to 4% of the 
reasons that rivers were not achieving good status. In the Anglian Water 
region, it was 1% of the reason that rivers were not achieving the target 
which was due to storm overflows. It was further explained that there 
was a report from Water UK explaining this in more detail that she 
would share with the Commission. 

35



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

 
Councillor Atterwill asked how they arrived at the figure of 4% when not 
all monitors had been put in place in the CSOs at this point in time. It 
was explained that the figure came from the Environment Agency and 
through the monitoring that they conducted in the rivers. A good 
resource to check would be The Environment Agency Catchment Data 
Explorer https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/ which 
provided data on rivers across all areas and the reasons it might not be 
at target. 
 
Councillor Atterwill also asked how clean the water was that came from 
modern treatment plants and returned to the rivers.  He mentioned the 
new treatment plant installed at Swanton Morley which, in his opinion, 
remained inadequate and not fit for purpose and felt that the site had 
failed and flooded nearby land with sewage. He also wanted to know 
how this would cope with planned new housing development in the 
area. 
 
Mr Tuffs stated that the final effluent was monitored, checked, and had 
to reach the quality and standards set by the Environment Agency so 
although there may have been more leakage, the standard would have 
been met. Anglian Water was aware of some spills at the Swanton 
Morley site, and it was currently under investigation. New developments 
were factored into operational parameters which was one of the 
reasons the Swanton Morley treatment plant had been upgraded.  
 
Councillor Turner suggested that Breckland Council could have some 
influence on working towards water companies being a statutory 
consultee on planning applications. 
 
Councillor Suggitt asked how Anglian Water kept up with new 
developments and provide what was needed if they were not a statutory 
consultee. 
 
It was explained that it was a challenge, the planning development team 
within Anglian Water worked with local authorities and the planning 
portal to look at any developments of 10 properties or more and worked 
together to assess any impacts or issues and if it was found that there 
might be an impact, they worked with the local planning authority to 
impose conditions during the build to avoid issues. This would be 
voluntary, and they could only advise as there was currently no 
statutory requirement to check with the water company. They were 
hoping that this could be changed and be incorporated into the new 
revision of the Planning Act that water companies be a statutory 
consultee.  
 
The Chairman suggested that the relevant Cabinet Member should 
work with Anglian Water to write a letter to Central Government 
regarding this point. This was seconded and agreed by Members and 
the Executive Member for Strategic and Operational Planning, 
Councillor Sarah Suggitt would take this forward. 
 
Councillor Eagle said that North Pickenham had experienced an issue 
with the river Wissey and that he had been informed that the issue had 
been water ingression within the sewage system that had caused an 
overflow.  There had been inspections that had confirmed the pipe 

36

https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/


Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

should be changed, additionally, there had been six main water leaks 
causing disruption and damage to verges, which meant that bin 
collections had not been carried out and post not delivered. He had 
found out that the reason the river Wissey had been classed as a failure 
by the Environment Agency on a chemical status was because of the 
high concentration of PBDEs and PFOSs and asked if Anglian Water 
could do something to solve this. Mr Tuffs said he would find out what 
was happening and report back to Councillor Eagle. 
 
Councillor Atterwill wanted to know if there were any plans to upgrade 
the Bylaugh sewage treatment works which had recently had a serious 
breakdown. Mr Tuffs said he was aware there had been issues at 
Bylaugh and would investigate the progress and report back to 
Councillor Atterwill. 
 
Councillor Birt said that the CSO incidents averaged at twenty-seven 
and the target for the current year was twenty-five but felt that this was 
a crude measure and asked how Nutrient Neutrality would affect 
existing discharges and where the budget was spent. Ms Shisler agreed 
that measuring CSO incidents was a crude measure.  In terms of finding 
a more appropriate measure they were working in partnership with 
Severn Trent Water on reaching a more suitable solution with the Get 
River Positive project looking more at the harm each CSO was causing 
and reducing the impact based on priority. Mr Tuffs stated that they 
were not funded on their current business plan for Nutrient Neutrality as 
it had only been a recent introduction so the impact on the budget was 
yet to be realised, they had received a letter from Natural England 
which explained their position in more detail which he would share with 
the Commission. 
 
The Chairman asked for a brief overview of Anglian Water’s ownership 
and what they felt was the future of Anglian Water and how it aligned 
with customers’ needs. Mr Tuffs explained that Anglian Water was 
mainly owned by pension funds some in Canada, Australia and the UK 
which had been the model for several years and stated that investors 
had not taken any dividends since 2017 but had reinvested any profit 
back into the business.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive, Rob Walker asked about the challenges 
and opportunities faced with Nutrient Neutrality and how Anglian Water 
infrastructure might be a contributing factor in the adverse nutrient load 
into the Wensum catchment which was predominantly rural. Mr Tuffs 
explained that they were currently operating within the current remits, 
permits and licences set by the regulator and as it stood there were no 
adverse effects; however, they continually looked at new targets and 
constantly invested in infrastructure to adapt. He also explained that 
they were working with other bodies to ensure that they were doing 
everything possible to mitigate any avoidable issues with Nutrient 
Neutrality. 

   
37/22 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT- QUARTER 4 2021/22   
  
 The Innovation and Change Business Partner, Ryan Pack said there 

had been some strong performances over quarter 4 but stated that 
there had also been some challenges, particularly around the Customer 
Contact Calls. It was highlighted that Under Thriving Places, there were 

 

37



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

some annual indicators included in this report. 
 
Councillor Atterwill felt that the Customer Contact Centre was cause for 
concern and stated that he had residents who had told him that they 
had difficulties in contacting the Council on the telephone, and although 
he felt that the advancements and improvements made on the technical 
side were good, there needed to be options to meet all types and ages 
and ensure all residents needs were being met. He also felt that the 
front page of the website should clearly show the telephone contact 
number and asked what was being done to ensure the telephone 
number was being made readily available. He also felt that the website 
was not easily used and needed refreshing and making more 
accessible.  
 
Councillor Birt stated that this matter had been raised at the Town and 
Parish Forum recently about residents having difficulties in finding a 
contact number to call to speak to someone in person.  
 
Councillors Turner and Brame agreed with the above comments stating 
that the website was difficult to use and did not suit everyone.  There 
was a diverse range of residents across the district and many reasons 
why advances in technology were not suitable and some residents 
preferred to speak to a person for guidance and get answers to 
questions. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive, Rob Walker agreed with the comments 
made on the visibility of the telephone contact on the website and 
explained that a historic decision had been taken to prioritise digital 
traffic where possible and the phone number was taken from a 
prominent position to try and direct enquires and promote digital where 
possible. However, given the recent feedback he would take the 
comments on board and investigate options to improve this. He said 
that the introduction of more digital channels was the way forward for 
those comfortable using the digital platforms and the view and desire of 
Breckland Council was that this would free up the time for staff to spend 
more time with the residents who preferred a conversation in person. 
Breckland Council was committed to offering options to suit all. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive advised that there had been recruitment 
issues in staffing the Contact Centre recently which had caused 
performance issues, however they were committed to filling the 
vacancies as soon as possible and staggering training to solve the 
issues. 
 
Councillor Birt pointed out that it was previously agreed for the 
performance report to have a breakdown of businesses under each star 
rating, but this had not been shown and asked about the calculation on 
the average yield on commercial property, and crucially, what the 
capital value of the asset was. He felt that the Freedom of Information 
requests calculation was still insufficient in that it should show either red 
or green, and more information on the percentage of complaint requests 
responded to within the time limit and if this included multiple failures.  
 
The Innovation and Change Business Partner said that in terms of the 
star rating, it should have been changed as previously agreed and 
would be changed and would send the information out to the Members 

38



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

of the Commission. He would clarify the calculation on the average yield 
with the service department and respond to Members with the 
information. In terms of complaints, he believed it would just be once as 
it was dealing with one complaint as opposed to dates that were 
missed. He said that based on the fact that Freedom of Information 
requests was a statutory request he could change the reporting to red 
and green if required. Members voted for this to be changed to show 
just red and green. 

   
38/22 SERCO TASK AND FINISH GROUP   
  
 Councillor Turner stated that the seven members of the Serco Task & 

Finish Group had met 3 times in February, March and April and four 
members had visited the Serco Depot in Watton on 12 May 2022 
together with the Cabinet Member which had proved very useful. 
 
The focus had been on three main areas: 
 

 To scrutinise the current performance of the Serco contract 

 To examine the impact of Covid and the National supply chain 
issues on the mobilisation of the contract 

 Examine Governance arrangements in place to manage and 
monitor the contract 

 
Officers were now preparing a report, on behalf of the Task and Finish 
Group, which would form the basis of the final meeting on 14 July 2022 
and would be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission on 
21 July 2022. 
 
Councillor Turner thanked the officers and the Serco Management for 
their support and cooperation in this task. 

 

   
39/22 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 Councillor Wilkinson informed Members that the Breckland Youth 

Advisory Board and Breckland Council supported Cup-O-T programme 
of mental health support to young people and families to fill the gap of 
the waiting time between referral and specialists.  At the last quarter 24 
families were referred over the five market towns and after discussion 
would now accept self-referrals and was also working on a scheme to 
look at an on-line plan for families who could not attend in person. He 
also reported that the QEH was now out of special measures which was 
a great achievement for all staff concerned after two years of disruption 
by Covid. More information could be found at: 
https://www.map.uk.net/breckland-youth-advisory-board-yab/ 
 
Councillor Eagle, a Trustee on The Hammond Educational Charity 
updated Members sharing information that The Hammonds Educational 
Trust were now doing a bursary for up to £10,000 to support a student 
for the Platinum Jubilee and welcomed applicants across the whole of 
the Breckland area and would appreciate Members sharing the 
information across their areas. More information could be found at: 
www.hamondeducationalcharity.org.uk 
 
Councillor Kybird reported that Maureen Orr, a Democratic and Scrutiny 
Team Manager for the Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny 

 

39

https://www.map.uk.net/breckland-youth-advisory-board-yab/
http://www.hamondeducationalcharity.org.uk/


Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

Committee, had now retired and the arrangement was now to be 
changed so that the officer who supported the main Scrutiny Panel at 
Norfolk would also be the officer presenting at the Health Scrutiny 
meetings.  There would be a separate research assistant appointed to 
gather data. 
 
Councillor Atterwill informed Members that he had recently attended the 
AGM for the Norfolk Playing Fields Association, but unfortunately the 
AGM could not proceed due to lack of numbers. They had been 
struggling for a number of years, particularly since funding had been 
withdrawn from Norfolk County Council, and therefore there was no 
funding from County or District to assist. They would be forming a small 
working party to look at the constitution and the model going forward to 
see what work could be done to help communities with this valuable 
resource. Playing fields were a vital part of communities for Norfolk 
residents and it was important that this continued and any assistance 
from any Breckland Council Members would be appreciated. 

   
40/22 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) (IF ANY)   
  
 None.  
   
41/22 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) (IF ANY)   
  
 Councillor Nairn said he had received many complaints from residents 

regarding the new grass cutting scheme that Norfolk County Council 
had now adopted, and verges were approximately 18 inches deep in 
some areas. Some months ago, NCC had deepened all the grips to 
assist with road drainage, however, these had now been hidden by the 
length of the grass and residents were reporting damage to vehicles 
because of this. He also felt that the length of grass may be affecting 
the increase in roadkill.  
 
Councillor Nairn asked for this to be considered as a Councillor Call for 
Action and suggested that NCC be invited to a meeting to explain the 
rationalisation in respect of their grass cutting policy. 
 
The Chairman suggested that the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
invite Councillor Wilby, the Cabinet Member for Highways at Norfolk 
County Council, along with the relevant officers, to attend a meeting to 
explain their change in policy. He suggested that Councillor Nairn and 
the Democratic Officer work together to formulate the request. 

 

   
42/22 WORK PROGRAMME   
  
 Councillor Atterwill requested that the Commission invite the Breckland 

Council Communications Team, and relevant Cabinet Member, to a 
future meeting to explain their modus operandi, how they operate and 
what their parameters were which he thought would be extremely useful 
for Ward Members. 
 
Councillor Birt asked about the review of the IT equipment and the 
invitation to UKPN as they were on the work programme, but no date as 
yet had been set. The Chairman suggested that related items such as 
the IT infrastructure, Website accessibility along with Chatbot data 
protection be put together and discussed at the September meeting and 

 

40



Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
26 May 2022 

 
 

11 

 Action By 

move Empty Homes to a later meeting. 
 
Councillor Kybird suggested that Nutrient Neutrality, although currently 
in its initial stages, should be added to the work programme as a future 
item. 
 
Councillor Atterwill pointed out that the Capita Contract was up for 
renewal and suggested that this should be added to the work 
programme to look at their performance against the contract, their future 
work programme, and the Local Plan. 

   
43/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 21 July 2022 at 

10am in the Anglia Room were noted.  
 

   
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.45 pm 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

41



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Tuesday, 10 May 2022 at 10.00 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

 
PRESENT 

 

Cllr Nigel Wilkin (Chairman) 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Roger Atterwill 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
Cllr Helen Crane 
Cllr Vera Dale 
 

Cllr Keith Gilbert 
Cllr Robert Kybird 
Cllr Keith Martin 
Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Substitute Member) 
Cllr Linda Monument (Substitute Member) 
 

 
In Attendance  
Simon Wood Director of Planning & Building Control 
Rebecca Collins Head of Development Management 
Rebecca Harris Technical Support Officer 
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer 
Hugh Coggles Tree & Countryside Officer 

  
 Action By 
38/22 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2022 were agreed as a correct 

record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

 

39/22 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2)   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Duigan and 

Kiddle-Morris.  Substitutes in attendance were Councillors Marion Chapman-
Allen and Linda Monument.  
 

 

40/22 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3)  

 

  
 None declared. 

 
 

41/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 None. 

 
 

42/22 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5)  

 

  
 None. 

 
 

43/22 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6)   
  
 None. 

 
 
 

 

42

Agenda Item 8c



Planning Committee 
10 May 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
44/22 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 Simon Wood the Director of Planning & Building Control provided Members with 

a Local Plan update. 
 
Local Plan 
 
The call for sites process would end on 20 May 2022 and the findings would be 
reported in due course. There had been a number of questions raised by 
Councillor Atterwill at the previous meeting in terms of clarification around the 
dates of some of the key elements of both the single policy review and the Local 
Plan update.  The Director of Planning & Building Control advised that that Local 
Development Scheme was available on the website and was currently the 
definitive and published timeframe.  However, another timeframe was being 
considered that had been highlighted in various meetings in relation to the partial 
review, and it was anticipated that a report in relation to the partial review would 
be taken to Cabinet in June 2022 that would be subsequently submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate following a consultation period with possible adoption by 
April 2023. 
 
In terms of the Local Plan update, it was currently anticipated that a report would 
be taken to Cabinet along with the final draft document in December 2024 with a 
submission date following various consultations in April 2025 looking at adoption 
in 2027. 
 
Members would be kept updated if any of these dates changed. Members should 
also be aware that planning was expected to be highlighted in the forthcoming 
Queen’s Speech that could possibly bring some changes and would have to be 
factored into the process. 
 
In response to a question, it was confirmed that the dates that had been set at 
the recent Cabinet meeting were accurate; Members were asked to ignore the 
dates that had been provided at the subsequent Neighbourhood Plan meeting.   
 
Nutrient Neutrality 
 
In terms of nutrient neutrality, this was still a matter that was causing a great deal 
of upheaval within Norfolk.  All were still in a position where planning authorities 
were not able to determine a substantial number of planning applications 
particularly those relating to residential development that provided additional 
overnight accommodation.  
 
There was work being carried out by officers of all the Districts to seek to clarify 
with Natural England and with Anglian Water the types of development that 
authorities could seek to determine especially outside the catchment areas. The 
Director of Planning & Building Control would be attending an upcoming meeting 
to hopefully clarify such matters with the key aim being how Districts could move 
forward with an adopted consistent approach in relation to applications that were 
non-residential. 
 
In terms of mid and long-term solutions, this subject was going to carry on for 
some considerable time before authorities could get into a position where normal 
service could be resumed. Information would be brought to this Committee on 
any key changes or steps forward made. 
 
Councillor Atterwill had noticed that there had been a great deal of information in 
the local press about the 7 authorities getting together to employ a consultant to 

 

43



Planning Committee 
10 May 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
look at these matters and asked the Director of Planning & Building Control if he 
was able to provide Members with any details as to what this consultant’s remit 
would be, and the possible timeline that he/she had been asked to work to. 
 
In response, the Director of Planning & Building Control advised that the 
timelines would be agreed in discussion with the said authorities; it was hoped 
that it would be a short piece of work; however, this might not be the case.  In 
terms of remit, this would be to look at the 2019 evidence provided by Natural 
England that underpinned its approach sent to local authorities in March 2022. 
Additionally, the remit would be to understand the scale of the issue in relation to 
Norfolk as a County and the number of residential units that the County was 
looking to provide over the various plan periods and arising from that the level of 
mitigation required and how such mitigation measures could be provided for such 
developments.  It would be a fairly wide brief but what was also being looked at 
was whether there was a methodology that could be taken to allow a risk-based 
approach to decision making within the catchment area in the short term. 
 
Councillor Atterwill also asked a question about Anglian Water, and the lack of 
communication between various bodies.  He had developers and landowners 
approach him about the state of the sewage works in Swanton Morley and how 
the sewage treatment plant could not cope and was flowing into the River 
Wensum.  He asked the Chairman if it would be possible to invite an Anglian 
Water representative to a future Committee meeting to discuss various issues 
across the District and ask them how they intended to move forward. 
Alternatively, he could submit a ‘Councillor Call for Action’ to be brought to an 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting. 
 
The Director of Planning & Building Control understood that Anglian Water had 
been invited to the next Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting on 26 May 
2022. An agenda had already been indicated to them that covered areas such as 
the sewage works in Swanton Morley, flooding issues and Nutrient Neutrality. In 
the last few weeks, Anglian Water had been extremely supportive in terms of 
discussing such issues and concerns and was helping to move matters forward 
in terms of information sharing. 
 
Councillor Wilkinson asked the Director of Planning & Building Control if he 
expected developers to leave areas that had Nutrient Neutrality issues and build 
on land that did not.  He felt that if this were to be the case it could have a 
detrimental effect on Local Plans going forward. 
 
Members were informed that if this Council moved into a position where a part of 
the District was relatively free from Nutrient Neutrality, he expected that there 
would be pressure from some developers to look at such areas where it was 
easier to develop but such land would still have to be assessed against the Local 
Plan.  He assured Members that it would not end up being a free for all to keep 
development going and the position of the 5-year housing land supply would also 
have to be taken into account.   
 

45/22 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8)   
  
a) TPO 2021 No.15: Rookery Farm Barns, Elsing Lane, Dereham    
   
 Formal objection to the serving of Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 2021 No. 15, 

Rookery Farm Barns, Elsing Lane, Dereham. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Hugh Coggles, Tree & 
Countryside Officer. 

 

44



Planning Committee 
10 May 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the report in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. 
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Objectors:   Jason & Jemma Hammond 
 
DECISION: Members voted 6 x 4 against the Officers recommendation to 
confirm the Order. 
 
REASONS: Members felt that the tree in question did not have sufficient 
amenity value given the location of the tree. 
 
DECISION: Members voted 7 x 3 not to confirm the Order. 
 

   
b) Colkirk:  Land Off Whissonsett Road: Reference: 3PL/2022/0132/VAR    
   
 Variation of Condition No 22 of planning permission 3PL/2021/1265/VAR - to 

vary the wording to enable works to continue up to slab level across all plots, in 
advance of this condition being discharged.  
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of 
Development Management.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Parish Council:  Cllr Jeanette Paul 
 
Applicant:   David Winch (on behalf of Breckland Bridge) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation; subject to:  
 

1. the conditions as listed in the report;  
2. delegated authority to be given to Officers to grant planning permission on 

the receipt of a satisfactory Unilateral Undertaking in respect of GIRAMs 
payment;  

3. full consideration by Officers of the issue of nutrient pollution and its 
impacts to the integrity of protected habitats; and  

4. delegated authority also be given to Officers to refuse planning 
permission if after full consideration by Officers – they are of the opinion 
that due to nutrient pollution, the integrity of protected habitats has not 
been satisfactorily secured.. 

 

   
46/22 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9|   
  
 None. 

 
 

47/22 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 10)  

 

45



Planning Committee 
10 May 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
  
 Noted. 

 
 

48/22 APPEALS (APRIL) (AGENDA ITEM 11)   
  
 Noted.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 11.20 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

46



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Held on Tuesday, 7 June 2022 at 10.00 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

 
 
PRESENT 

 

Cllr Nigel Wilkin (Chairman) 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Claire Bowes 
Cllr Helen Crane 
Cllr Vera Dale 
 

Cllr Phillip Duigan 
Cllr Keith Gilbert 
Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris 
Cllr Robert Kybird 
Cllr Keith Martin 
 

 
Also Present  

Cllr Sarah Suggitt (Ward 
Representative) 
 

Cllr Fabian Eagle (Ward Representative) 
 

 
In Attendance  
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council 
Rebecca Collins Head of Development Management 
Matthew Blackie Development Management Planner 
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner 
Rebecca Harris Technical Support Officer 
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer 

  
 Action By 
49/22 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2022 were agreed as a correct 

record. 
 

 

50/22 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2)   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Atterwill and Clarke.  There were 

no substitutes in attendance. 
 

 

51/22 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3)  

 

  
 1. Little Cressingham, Village Farm, Watton Road: Reference(s): 

3PL/2021/0641/F, 3PL/2021/0699/VAR, 3PL/2021/0700/F, 
3PL/2021/0701/VAR, 3PL/2021/0713/VAR 

 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in the above 
applications due to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  
Councillor Bowes left the  room whilst these applications were 
discussed. 

 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 

 
2. Hilborough: Stanford Training Area: Reference: 3PL/2022/0072/F  

 

47



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this 
application due to her having an interest in land adjacent to the site and 
left the room whilst this application was being discussed. 
 

52/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)   
  
 The Chairman thanked those Members who attended the site visit held recently 

at Quidenham (agenda items 8(a) and 8(b) refers). However, there had been 
some questions asked about how the voting should subsequently be conducted 
on these particular items, and an email had been circulated to all Committee 
Members prior to the site visit explaining how this matter should be dealt with. 
 
Mr Horn, the Council’s Solicitor then explained that those Members who voted to 
defer these applications for a site visit and then, for whatever reason, did not 
attend that site visit, would be more then welcome to take part in the discussion 
and ask questions but they should not vote.  
 
Councillor Gilbert asked if a recorded vote should be taken for any future 
applications that were subsequently deferred. 
 
The Chairman agreed and a recorded vote would be taken for such decisions in 
future. 
 
Councillor Duigan said that he did not attend the meeting when these 
applications were deferred and did not attend the site visit either and asked if he 
would still be able to vote. 
 
In response, the Solicitor advised that Members could vote if they did not attend 
the said meeting or the site visit.  In other words, if Members felt that they had 
enough information before them to vote on the matter, then this would be in the 
same context as a normal planning application. The issue was what could be 
considered as reasonable and what could potentially be judicially reviewed i.e. if 
a Member voted for a site visit, and then was subsequently unable to attend, but 
he/she then voted, this would be seen to be wholly illogical.  
 

 

53/22 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5)  

 

  
 The following applications were deferred at the meeting: 

 
Agenda item 8(a): Quidenham:  Anvil Park Stud, Overa House Farm, Sallow 
Lane: Reference: 3PL/2020/0043/F 
 
To await accurate plans of the development on the application site. 
 
Agenda item 9(f): Thetford: Deers Leap, 38 Norwich Road: Reference: 
3PL/2022/0112/F 
 
To await clarification of site ownership and the receipt of the certificate of 
ownership. 
 

 

54/22 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6)   
  
 None. 

 
 

 

48



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
55/22 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)   
  
 Rebecca Collins, the Head of Development Management provided Members with 

the following update on the Local Plan. 
 
Work was continuing on the preparation of the partial review of the Local Plan. 
The call for sites consultation ended on 20 May 2022 with almost 200 
submissions for development and local green space proposals. 
 
This information was being collated and would be published once this work had 
been completed. 
 
The annual monitoring of housing was nearing completion and a report setting 
out the 2022 5-year housing land supply report would be presented to a future 
Planning Committee meeting. 
 
The Vice-Chairman, Councillor Wilkinson queried the word ‘partial’ review as he 
thought that a full review had been agreed. 
 
Members were informed that a partial review was still required in respect of the 
relevant policy within the Local Plan followed by a full review.   
 

 

56/22 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8)   
  
a) Quidenham:  Anvil Park Stud, Overa House Farm, Sallow Lane: Reference: 

3PL/2020/0043/F   
 

   
 This application was deferred at the meeting as accurate plans of the proposed 

development were required. 
 

   
b) Quidenham: Anvil Park Stud, Overa House Farm, Access Road To Overa 

House Farm: Reference: 3PL/2021/0307/F   
 

   
 Erection of 4 cabins to be used as holiday accommodation. 

 
This application was considered at the Planning Committee meeting in November 
2021 but was deferred for a site visit to take place.  The site visit had been held 
on Monday, 6 June 2022. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of 
Development Management.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Ward Representative:  Cllr Sarah Suggitt (spoke against the application) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal. 

 

   
57/22 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9)   
  
 The 5 x applications for Little Cressingham were presented together, but 

Members were asked to vote on each application. 
 

49



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
a) Little Cressingham: Village Farm, Watton Road: 3PL/2021/0641/F    
   
 Erection of warehouse for the storage of goods in connection with STV 

International Ltd’s pest control product business and carpark. 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bowes left the room 
whilst this application was being discussed. 
 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Parish Council:  Cllr Tony Abel (Chairman) 
 
Applicant:   Mr S Scott 
Applicant’s Agents: Mr O Jones and Mr D Barker (Plandescil Ltd) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 for approval in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation; subject to:  
 

1. the conditions as listed in the report;  
2. delegated authority to be given to Officers to grant planning 

permission, subject to the receipt of satisfactory comments from the 
Ecological Consultant in regard to ecological considerations for 
biodiversity net gain related matters; and 

3. an additional condition be imposed in respect of times of loading 
and unloading HGV vehicles.  

 

   
b) Little Cressingham: Forge House, Watton Road: Reference: 

3PL/2021/0699/VAR   
 

   
 Variation of Condition No. 5 on 3PL/2007/0304/F – Variation of operating hours – 

2 shifts from 6am to 10pm from Monday to Friday and from 8am to 6pm on 
Saturdays. 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bowes left the room 
whilst this application was being discussed. 
 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner. 
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings: 

 

50



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
 
Parish Council: Tony Abel (Chairman) 
Applicant: Mr S Scott 
Agents: Mr O Jones & Mr D Barker (Evolution Town Planning 
 Ltd) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval; subject to the conditions as listed in the 
report. 

   
c) Little Cressingham: Forge House, Watton Road: Reference: 3PL/2021/0700/F    
   
 Erection of an acoustic boundary screen fence. 

 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bowes left the room 
whilst this application was being discussed. 
 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Parish Council:  Cllr Tony Abel (Chairman) 
Applicant:   Mr S Scott 
Applicant’s Agents: Mr O Jones and Mr D Barker (Evolution Town Planning  
   Ltd) 
 
DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval in support of the 
Officer’s recommendation; subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

 

   
d) Little Cressingham: Forge House, Watton Road: Reference: 

3PL/2021/0701/VAR   
 

   
 Variation of Condition No. 6 on 3PL/1998/1199/F – Variation of operating hours – 

2 shifts from 6am to 10pm from Monday to Friday and from 8am to 6pm on 
Saturdays. 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bowes left the room 
whilst this application was being discussed. 
 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner. 
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 

 

51



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings: 
 
Parish Council: Tony Abel (Chairman) 
Applicant: Mr S Scott 
Agents: Mr O Jones & Mr D Barker (Evolution Town Planning 
 Ltd) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval; subject to the conditions as listed in the 
report. 

   
e) Little Cressingham: Forge House, Watton Road: Reference: 

3PL/2021/0713/VAR   
 

   
 Variation of Condition No. 6 on 3PL/2014/1129/F – Variation of operating hours – 

2 shifts from 6am to 10pm from Monday to Friday and from 8am to 6pm on 
Saturdays. 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her being a personal friend of the applicant.  Councillor Bowes left the room 
whilst this application was being discussed. 
 
All Members had received direct correspondence from the applicant. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Parish Council:  Cllr Tony Abel (Chairman) 
Applicant:   Mr S Scott 
Applicant’s Agents: Mr O Jones and Mr D Barker (Evolution Town Planning  
   Ltd) 
 
DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval; subject to the conditions as listed in the 
report. 

 

   
f) Thetford: Deers Leap, 38 Norwich Road: Reference: 3PL/2022/0112/F    
   
 This application was deferred at the meeting as clarification of site ownership 

was awaited. 
 

   
g) Watton: 12 Sharman Avenue: Reference: 3PL/2021/1329/HOU    
   
 Rear garden summer house (retrospective). 

 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 

 

52



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Objector:  Liz Whitcher (Chairman of Watton & Saham Flood Action Group) 
 
DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval in support of the 
Officer’s recommendation; subject to:  
 

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and  
2. delegated authority be given to the Officers, following consultation 

with the Lead Local Flood Authority, to update wording of 
conditions 4 and 5, to ensure relevant works be undertaken in 
respect of drainage. 

   
h) Thetford: Thetford Town Football Club, Mundford Road: Reference: 

3PL/2021/1712/F   
 

   
 Erection of 2.4m perimeter fence with an anti-climb gate and entrance for 

equipment. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Matthew Blackie, 
Development Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
No representations were made in respect of the application. 
 
DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval in support of the 
Officer’s recommendation; subject to:  
 

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and  
2. condition 3 be updated to require ‘green’ finish to fencing. 

 

   
i) Hilborough and Ickburgh: Stanford Training Area: Reference: 

3PL/2022/0072/F   
 

   
 Proposed additional 40 tonne bridge located across the river Wissey along with 

an improved track route, fencing, gates, cattle grids, signage etc either side of the 
bridge. 
 
Councillor Bowes declared a personal & prejudicial interest in this application due 
to her having an interest in land adjacent to the site and left the room whilst this 
application was being discussed. 
 
Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.  
 
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.  
 
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:  
 
Ward Representative:  Cllr Fabian Eagle (spoke against the application) 
 
Parish Council:   Cllr Henry Sands (spoke against the application) 

 

53



Planning Committee 
7 June 2022 

 
  Action By 

 
 
DECISION: Members voted 6 x 2 for approval in support of the Officer’s 
recommendation; subject to:  
 

1. the conditions as listed in the report;   
2. no objections being received from the Council’s Ecologist in respect 

of ecology considerations; and 
3. additional conditions be imposed in terms of mitigation measures to 

address potential flooding as recommended in the submitted Flood 
Risk Assessment. 

   
58/22 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 

(FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 10)  
 

  
 Noted. 

 
 

59/22 APPEALS (MAY) - FOR INFORMATION (AGENDA ITEM 11)   
  
 Noted.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.30 pm 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

54



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen - Executive Member Finance, Revenues and 

Benefits   
  

To: Governance and Audit Committee 23 June 2022 
 Full Council: 7 July 2022 
 
Author: Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 
 
Subject:  Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential 

Indicators 2021/22 
 
Purpose: The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 

Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2021/22. This report meets the requirements of both the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).  

 

 
Recommendations:  

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 
 
1) To approve the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators within this report 
 
2) To note the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2021/22 at Appendix B and Appendix 

C 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 During 2021/22 the minimum reporting requirements were that Governance and Audit 

Committee should receive the following reports:  
 

 An annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Governance and Audit Committee 
17th December 2020)  

 A mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Governance and Audit Committee 2nd 
December 2021) 

 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy (this report)  
 
The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and scrutiny 
of treasury management policy and activities. This report is therefore important in enabling 
Members to fulfil this responsibility, as it provides details of the outturn position for 
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members.  
 
To support Members scrutiny role, Member training on treasury management usually 
takes place annually and last took place in October 2021. An update from Link Asset 
Services, the Councils Treasury Management Advisors, on the economy and interest 
rates as of May 2022 (reflecting the Bank of England’s increase in the Base Rate in May) 
is attached to this report at Appendix A. 

55

Agenda Item 9



 
2.0 OVERALL TREASURY MANAGEMENT POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2022 
 
2.1 During 2021/22, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements. The 

key actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact of capital expenditure 
activities during the year, with comparators, are as follows: 

 

Prudential and treasury 
indicators 

31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

2021/22 
Budget 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

Capital expenditure 7,246 8,622 6,613 

 
Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR): 

 

Nil (276) 202 

Gross borrowing Nil Nil Nil 

External debt Nil Nil Nil 

 
Investments 
 Longer than 1 year 
 Under 1 year 
 Total 
 

 
0 

27,398 
27,398 

 

 
0 

40,562 
40,562 

Net borrowing Nil Nil Nil 

 
 
2.2 The investments total excludes loans to Breckland Bridge which fall outside of the 

treasury reporting requirement. These loans enhance the Council’s investment return. 
(Further details in Appendix B). 
 

2.3 Other prudential and treasury indicators can be found at Appendix B. The Assistant 
Director Finance also confirms that no borrowing was undertaken for any purpose and the 
statutory borrowing limit (the authorised limit) was not breached. The financial year 
2021/22 continued the challenging investment environment of previous years, namely low 
investment returns. As at 31st March 2022, the Council’s external debt was Nil (Nil at 31st 
March 2021) and its investments totalled £40.562m (£27.398m at 31st March 2021). The 
increase in investments reflected a one-off grant to provide the £150 Council Tax Rebate 
to households to help them to cope with higher energy bills, which was received at the 
end of March 2022, but applied to Council Tax accounts in 2022/23.   

 
3.0 OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Note the treasury management stewardship report for 2021/22 and Recommend to Full 

Council to approve the actual 2021/22 prudential indicators, without amendment. 
 
3.2 Make changes before noting the treasury management annual report for 2021/22 as 

presented and recommending to Full Council to approve the actual 2021/22 prudential 
indicators. 

 
4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To meet the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 

and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

56



 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
5.1 The Council is required through regulation to report the outturn position for last year. By 

approving the outturn report, this will ensure the Council has confirmed compliance with 
regulations and has identified the starting position for treasury activity in the forthcoming 
year. 

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
 Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
 these headings, these are identified below. 
 
6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
6.1.1 Where it is able to do so in compliance with regulations, the Council may choose to make 

investments with counterparties who invest in sustainable activities. 
 
6.2  Constitution & Legal 
6.2.1 Local Government Act 2003 

 
6.3 Financial  
6.3.1 This report is required by regulation and contributes towards the sound financial 

management of the authority. 
 
6.4 Reputation  
6.4.1 This report is required by regulation and contributes towards the sound financial 

management of the authority. 
 
6.5 Risk Management  
6.5.1 Risks are included in the report and appendices. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement 
7.2 CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.3 CPI - Consumer Price Index 
7.4 DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
7.5 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.6 LIBID – London Interbank Bid Rate 
7.7 MPC - Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England 
7.8 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision 
7.9 PFI – Private Finance Initiative 
7.10 PWLB - Public Works Loans Board 
7.11 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 
 

Background papers:- None 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Matthew Fernandez-Graham, Accountancy Manager 

57



Telephone Number: 07425 618457 
Email: Matthew.Fernandez-Graham@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
 
Appendix A The economy and interest rate forecast (as at May 2022) 
Appendix B  Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2021/22 

(Incorporating Outturn Prudential Indicators)  
Appendix C March 2022 Treasury Performance Report 

58



 

 

Part of Link Group 

Updated 
Interest Rate 
Forecast  
10th May 2022 

59



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 2 

LINK GROUP UPDATED INTEREST RATE FORECAST 
 
Updating of our forecasts 10th May 2022 

 

• We have forecast that the MPC will reluctantly increase Bank Rate at a much faster pace through 
2022 to try and keep inflation in check, with further rises of 0.25% in June, and then in each of the 
three subsequent quarters to peak at 2% by the close of the calendar year.  However, those increases 
in Bank Rate are likely to add to the considerable headwinds impacting the UK economy and, 
therefore, tentatively we have priced in a small reduction in Bank Rate in 2024.  As 2022 proceeds we 
will be in a better position to judge the overall strength of those economic headwinds and will revise 
our forecast as appropriate. 

• Gilt yields and, therefore, PWLB rates, have been highly volatile since the start of Q4 2021 and that 
trend has continued throughout the first four months of 2022; indeed, they have risen sharply as 
concerns focusing on inflation and the secondary round effects, as measured by wage inflation, have 
taken centre stage. 

• At the MPC’s 5th May meeting, the 6-3 vote in favour of a 0.25% Bank Rate increase to 1% was 
followed by a press conference in which it became clear that the nine members of the Committee had 
varying concerns and voted accordingly.  Some emphasised the slowing economy; others the degree 
to which inflation could rapidly become uncontrollable unless monetary policy was tightened very 
promptly; and others saw labour shortages as having to be dampened to prevent spiralling wage 
demands.   

• The fact that the economy is forecast to flatline in Q2 and Q3 2022 is an added complication for policy 
makers, and the forecast -0.9% contraction in the economy in Q4 2022 followed by a further -0.2% 
contraction in Q2 2023 only adds to the growing possibility that the UK economy may fall into recession 
at some point during the next year. 

• International factors cannot be ignored.  The war in Ukraine has added to already present inflationary 
pressures, as economies bounced back from the effects of Covid-induced lockdowns.  Pricing 
pressure pertaining to oil, gas, electricity, wheat and fertilisers are only some of the better-known 
aspects.   

• Moreover, reductions in the number of people actively seeking employment have also put upward 
pressure on wages and those costs are likely to be passed on to consumers.  Regarding the UK, Brexit 
factors will also have had a negative impact on the number of workers with appropriate skill-sets 
available to fill the current record 1.3m job vacancies. 

• PWLB rates have risen sharply since the turn of the year, in line with similar movements in bond 
markets in developed economies.   

• Financial markets are currently pricing in increases to Bank Rate to c2.5% by April 2023.  So, although 
we have increased our Bank Rate forecast significantly, we are still positioned some 50bps lower than 
market expectations.  However, from a PWLB perspective, we believe that the market has already 
priced in most of the increases that pertain to the high inflation outlook (peaking at 10.2% on the CPI 
measure in Q4 2022 according to the Bank). 

• LIBOR and LIBID rates ceased at the end of 2021. In a continuation of our previous forecasts, our 
money market yield forecasts are based on expected average earnings by local authorities for 3 to 12 
months. 

• Our forecasts for average earnings are averages i.e., rates offered by individual banks may differ 
significantly from these averages, reflecting their different needs for borrowing short-term cash at any 
one point in time. 

Bank Rate Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

10.5.22 1.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

7.2.22 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

change 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50

60



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 3 

Our current and previous PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 
20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

 

 

 

 

 

Link Group Interest Rate View 10.5.22

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25

BANK RATE 1.25 1.50 1.75 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

  3 month ave earnings 1.20 1.50 1.70 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

  6 month ave earnings 1.60 1.90 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.00 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90

12 month ave earnings 2.00 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.30 2.30 2.20 2.20 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10

5 yr   PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

10 yr PWLB 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

25 yr PWLB 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.10 3.10 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

50 yr PWLB 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.80 2.80 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70

Link Group Interest Rate View 7.2.22

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 1.00 1.00 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

  6 month ave earnings 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

12 month ave earnings 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.60 1.60 1.50 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40

5 yr   PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

10 yr PWLB 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40

25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60

50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40

61



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 4 

A SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF THE FUTURE PATH OF BANK RATE 

• Our central forecast for interest rates was previously updated on 7th February and reflected a view 
that the MPC will be keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials by delivering 0.25% 
increases in Bank Rate in March and May, both of which were implemented. Now we expect further 
0.25% increases in June, August, November and February, with the latter three decisions coinciding 
with updated Bank of England Quarterly Monetary Policy reports. 

• The CPI measure of inflation is now forecast to rise to above 10% in Q4 2022 and the MPC will be 
keen to stifle the prospect of average earnings data (5.4% y/y currently including bonuses) providing 
further upside risk to inflationary factors that are primarily being driven by supply-side shortages.  
Conversely, the Bank indicated at its 5th May meeting that markets may have over-estimated how far 
monetary policy will need to be tightened, as the May Quarterly Monetary Policy report indicated that 
inflation would be considerably below the 2% target by Q1 2025 if rates were tightened to 2.5%. 

• Now that Bank Rate has reached 1%, the MPC has indicated (no earlier than August) that it will also 
consider the extent to which it implements Quantitative Tightening (QT), primarily the selling of its gilt 
holdings, although they are likely to take any such decision cautiously as they are already not 
refinancing maturing debt. 

• Notwithstanding the MPC’s clear desire to increase Bank Rate throughout the first half of 2022, 
negative real earnings, a 54% hike in the Ofgem energy price cap from April, at the same time as 
employees (and employers) incurred a 1.25% Health & Social Care Levy, growing commodity and 
food inflation plus council tax rises - all these factors will hit households’ finances hard.  However, 
lower income families will be hit disproportionately hard despite some limited assistance from the 
Chancellor to postpone the full impact of rising energy costs. 

• Given the above outlook, it poses a question as to whether the MPC may shift into protecting economic 
growth if it flatlines in Q2 and Q3 2022, let alone contracts by -0.9% in Q4.  Accordingly, we remain 
tentative about whether the MPC will increase Bank Rate as far as the market is currently pricing in 
(2.5% in April 2023). 

• In the past months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases and clarifications 
from the MPC over its monetary policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine, 
including the manner in which the West and NATO respond through sanctions and/or military 
intervention. 

• Currently, oil, gas, wheat and other mainstream commodities have risen significantly in price and 
central banks will have to balance whether they prioritise economic growth or try to counter supply-
side shock induced inflation.  

• On the positive side, consumers are estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over 
from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact of the above increases.  However, most of 
those are held by more affluent people whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their 
income before these increases hit and have few financial reserves.  

 

PWLB RATES 

• The yield curve has flattened out considerably and PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, 
in the range of 2.3% to 3%. 

• We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields of the likely 
increases in Bank Rate and the poor inflation outlook. 

• It is difficult to say currently what effect the Bank of England starting to sell gilts will have on gilt yields 
now that Bank Rate has hit 1%.  Nothing will be decided before August, however, but the Bank is likely 
to act cautiously as it has already started on not refinancing maturing debt.  A pure roll-off of the peak 
£875bn gilt portfolio by not refinancing bonds as they mature, would see the holdings fall to about 
£415bn by 2031, which would be about equal to the Bank’s pre-pandemic holding.  

• Increases in US treasury yields over the next few months could add further upside pressure on gilt 
yields. 

 
 
 
 

62



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 5 

 
The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

• The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside. 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

• Mutations of the Covid virus render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked vaccines to combat these 
mutations are delayed or unable to be administered fast enough to stop the NHS being overwhelmed. 
 

• Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress economic activity 
(accepting that in the near-term this is also an upside risk to inflation and, thus, rising gilt yields). 

 

• Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK 
economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  
 

• The Government acts too quickly to increase taxes and/or cut expenditure to balance the national budget. 
 

• UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial services due to 
complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining issues.  

 

• Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, Iran, China, North Korea and Middle Eastern countries, 
which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.  
 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows 
inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  
 

• Longer term US treasury yields continue to rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than forecast. 

LINK GROUP FORECASTS  

We now expect the MPC to swiftly increase Bank Rate during 2022 to combat the sharp increase in inflationary 
pressures. We do not think that the MPC will embark on a series of increases in Bank Rate that would take it 
to more than 2.00%. 

Gilt yields and PWLB rates 

The general situation is for volatility in bond yields to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb and flow 
between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e., equities, or the safe haven of government bonds. The 
overall longer-run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise moderately at most, given the extent to which 
market expectations are already priced in.   

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB (certainty) borrowing rates are set out below: - 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 10.5.22 a.m. 

Target borrowing rate 
now 

(end of Q2 2022) 

Target borrowing rate 
previous 

(end of Q2 2022) 

5 year 2.39% 2.50% 2.30% 

10 year 2.74% 2.80% 2.40% 

25 year 3.00% 3.00% 2.50% 

50 year 2.72% 2.70% 2.30% 

Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate is 2.00%. As nearly all PWLB 
certainty rates are now above this level, borrowing strategies will need to be reviewed in that context, especially 
as the maturity curve has flattened out considerably.  Better value can be obtained at the shorter end of the 

63



 

Link Group Interest Rate Forecast • 6 

curve. Temporary borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive 
as part of a balanced debt portfolio.  

In addition, there are also some cheap alternative sources of long-term borrowing if a client is seeking to avoid 
a “cost of carry” but also wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk. Please speak to your CRM to discuss 
options. 

Our suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to about three months’ duration in each financial 
year are as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2022/23 1.60% 1.00% 

2023/24 2.00% 1.25% 

2024/25 1.70% 1.25% 

2025/26 1.70% 1.25% 

Years 6 to 10 2.00% 1.50% 

Years 10+ 2.00% 2.00% 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all interest rate forecasts.  
The general expectation for a trend of moderately rising gilt yields is unchanged.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB forecasts have been rounded to 
the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands of + / - 25 bps. Naturally, we continue to monitor 
events and will update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

Interest Rate Strategy Group 

 

 
This report is intended for the use and assistance of customers of Link Group. It should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by 
the recipient of its own judgement. Link Group exists to provide its clients with advice primarily on borrowing and investment.  We are not 
legal experts and we have not obtained legal advice in giving our opinions and interpretations in this paper.  Clients are advised to seek 
expert legal advice before taking action as a result of any advice given in this paper. Whilst Link Group makes every effort to ensure that all 
information provided by it is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will 
not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising there from. Furthermore, Link Group shall not be held liable in contract, 
tort or otherwise for any loss or damage (whether direct, or indirect or consequential) resulting from negligence, delay or failure on the part 
of Link Group or its officers, employees or agents in procuring, presenting, communicating or otherwise providing information or advice 
whether sustained by Link Group customer or any third party directly or indirectly making use of such information or advice, including but 
not limited to any loss or damage resulting as a consequence of inaccuracy or errors in such information or advice. All information supplied 
by Link Group should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any 
decision. Treasury services are provided by Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033).  
 
Link Treasury Services Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging 
activities in the UK as part of its Treasury Management Service. FCA register number 150403.  Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham 
Street, London, EC2V 7NQ.  

64



Appendix B 
 
 
Annual Treasury Management Report (Incorporating Outturn Prudential Indicators)  
 
2021/22 
 

Breckland Council 
June 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

65



[Type here] 
 

2 
 

1 Introduction and Background 

1.1  This report summarises the following:-  

 Capital activity during the year; 

 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness, (the Capital 
Financing Requirement); 

 The actual prudential and treasury indicators; 

 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in 
relation to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances; 

 Summary of interest rate movements in the year; 

 Detailed debt activity; and 

 Detailed investment activity. 

2 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing  

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be: 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.   

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

£m  General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

 Capital expenditure 7.246 8.622 6.613 

Financed in year: 
Capital reserves 
Revenue Funding 
PFI Scheme 
Capital Grants and S106 
Agreements 

3.605 
0.219 
0.628 
2.794 

 

1.674 
1.175 
0.152 
2.917 

Unfinanced capital expenditure  0  695 

66



[Type here] 
 

3 
 

3 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need and Related Prudential Indicators 

3.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s 
indebtedness.  The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and 
resources used to pay for the capital spend.  It represents the 2021/22 unfinanced 
capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or other resources.   

 
3.2 Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for 

this borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the 
treasury service organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient 
cash is available to meet the capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This may 
be sourced through borrowing from external bodies, (such as the Government, 
through the Public Works Loan Board [PWLB], or the money markets), or utilising 
temporary cash resources within the Council. The Council had a positive CFR in 
2021/22 and so had an underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 

 
3.3 Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not allowed 

to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are 
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council is required to 
make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP, 
to reduce the CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the General Revenue 
Account borrowing need. This differs from the treasury management 
arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital commitments.  
External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not change 
the CFR. In accordance with regulations, MRP does not have to be charged in a 
year when the CFR was negative at the end of the previous financial year. 

 
3.4 The total CFR can also be reduced by: 

 the application of additional capital financing resources, (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or  

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).  

3.5 The Council’s 2021/22 MRP Policy, (as required by DLUHC Guidance), was 
approved by Full Council as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 
2021/22 on 20th January 2021. 

 
3.6 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential 

indicator.  It includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which 
increase the Council’s borrowing need.  No borrowing is actually required against 
these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. The Council has 
complied with this prudential indicator. 

 

67



[Type here] 
 

4 
 

 

CFR (£m): General Fund 
31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Opening balance  7,557 11,117 7,557 

Add unfinanced capital 
expenditure (as above) 

 

0 

 

(1,279) 

 

695 

Less MRP 0 (539) (539) 

Less PFI & finance lease 
repayments 

(7,780) (7,780) (7,511) 

Closing balance  (223) 1,519 202 

 
Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing and the 
CFR, and by the authorised limit. 
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent 
over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that 
its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
capital financing requirement in the preceding year (2021/22) plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current (2022/23) and next two financial 
years.  This essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue 
expenditure.  This indicator would allow the Council some flexibility to borrow in 
advance of its immediate capital needs if required.  The table below highlights the 
Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The Council has complied with 
this prudential indicator. 
 

 31.3.21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Budget 

31.3.22 
Actual 

Gross borrowing position £0.00m £0.00m £0.00m 

CFR (£0.223m) £1.519m £0.202m 

Under / (over) funding of CFR (£0.223m) £1.519m £0.202m 

 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does 
not have the power to borrow above this level.  The table below demonstrates that 
during 2021/22 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  
 
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached.  
 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. Financing costs to 
net revenue stream are negative for 2021/22, this is because the Council is earning 
interest on its balances as opposed to paying interest on its borrowing. 
 

 2021/22 

68



[Type here] 
 

5 
 

Authorised limit £9.511m 

Maximum gross borrowing position during the year £0.0m 

Operational boundary £7.511m 

Average gross borrowing position  £0.0m 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream    (0.71%) 

69



[Type here] 
 

6 
 

4 Treasury Position as at 31st March 2022  

4.1 The Council’s treasury management debt and investment position is organised by 
the treasury management service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue 
and capital activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all 
treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these 
objectives are well established both through member reporting detailed in the 
summary, and through officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices.  At the end of 2021/22 the Council‘s treasury, (excluding 
borrowing by PFI and finance leases), position was as follows: 

 
 

 
   

DEBT PORTFOLIO 
31.3.21 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

31.3.22 
Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

Fixed rate funding:        

 -PWLB £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

 -Market £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

Variable rate 
funding:  

 
  

 
  

 -PWLB £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

 -Market £0.00m N.a.  £0.00m N.a.  

Total debt £0.00m N.a. N.a. £0.00m N.a. N.a. 

CFR (£0.223m)   £0.202m   

Over / (under) 
borrowing 

£0.223m 
  

(£0.202m) 
  

Total investments £27.398m 0.28%  £40.562m 0.29%  

70



[Type here] 
 

7 
 

 

 
 

 

The maturity structure of the investment portfolio was as follows: 

 31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

Investments 
  Longer than 1 year 
  Up to 1 year 
  Total 

 
270 

27,398 
27,668 

 
270 

40,562 
40,832 

 

  

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 

31.3.21 
Actual 
£000 

 

31.3.21 
Actual 

% 

31.3.22 
Actual 
£000 

31.3.22 
Actual 

% 

Treasury investments     

Banks 13,398 48.90% 23,562 58.09% 

Building Societies - rated 7,000 25.55% 15,000 36.98% 

Local authorities 7,000 25.55% 0  

DMADF (H M Treasury) 0  2,000 4.93% 

Total managed in house 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

Bond funds 0  0  

Property funds 0  0  

Cash fund managers 0  0  

Total managed externally 0  0  

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS 27,398 100% 40,562 100% 

Non Treasury investments     

Loans to Breckland Bridge 270  270  

TOTAL NON TREASURY 
INVESTMENTS 

270 
100% 270 

100% 

Treasury investments 27,398 99.02% 40,562 99.34% 

Non Treasury investments 270 0.98% 270 0.66% 

TOTAL  OF ALL  INVESTMENTS 27,668 100% 40,832 100% 

71



[Type here] 
 

8 
 

5.1 Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk 

5.1.1 There were no changes to the Strategy during 2021/22. Investment returns 
remained close to zero for much of 2021/22.  Most local authority lending managed 
to avoid negative rates and one feature of the year was the continued growth of 
inter local authority lending.  The expectation for interest rates within the treasury 
management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank Rate would remain at 0.1% until 
it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency level of rates introduced at 
the start of the Covid-19 pandemic was no longer required. 

5.1.2 The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and 
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive 
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to 
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government 
also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to businesses.  
This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in financial 
markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect that 
investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year when 
inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England, would need 
to lift interest rates to combat the second-round effects of growing levels of inflation 
(CPI rose to 6.2% by March 2022).  

5.1.3 While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in terms 
of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the financial 
crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial 
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are 
now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions. 

5.1.4 Actual changes in interest rates and in the SONIA benchmark rate are shown in the 
graph and table below. 

Investment Benchmarking Data – Sterling Overnight Index Average 2021/22 
 

 
 

-0.20

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

Bank Rate vs term SONIA rates % 1.4.21 - 31.3.22

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

72



[Type here] 
 

9 
 

 
 
5.2 Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk 

5.2.1 During 2021/22, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were very low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered. 

5.2.2 A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was 
not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a 
temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns. 

5.2.3 The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid incurring 
higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able to avoid new 
borrowing to finance capital expenditure. 

5.2.4 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Assistant Director Finance therefore monitored 
interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon the 
following principles to manage interest rate risks. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or 
of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would have been postponed, and 
potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing would have 
been considered. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long 
and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an acceleration in 
the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the 
portfolio position would have been re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed rate funding 
would have been drawn whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected 
to be in the next few years. 

 
5.2.5 Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer-term 

fixed borrowing rates during 2021/22 and the two subsequent financial years until 
the turn of the year, when inflation concerns increased significantly.  Internal, 
variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing 
until well in to the second half of 2021/22.  

 
 

Bank Rate SONIA 1 mth 3 mth 6 mth

High 0.75 0.69 0.75 0.93 1.27

High Date 17/03/2022 18/03/2022 16/03/2022 28/03/2022 17/03/2022

Low 0.10 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05

Low Date 01/04/2021 15/12/2021 10/11/2021 14/04/2021 09/04/2021

Average 0.19 0.14 0.17 0.24 0.34

Spread 0.65 0.65 0.71 0.88 1.22

73



[Type here] 
 

10 
 

5.2.6 Forecasts at the time of approval of the treasury management strategy report 
for 2021/22 were as follows: - 

 

 
 
5.2.7 No external borrowing was undertaken in 2021/22. 
 
6  Investment Outturn  

6.1 Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by DLUHC 
investment guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment 
strategy approved by the Council on 20th January 2021.  This policy sets out the 
approach for choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings 
provided by the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional 
market data, (such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).   

 
6.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 

the Council had no liquidity difficulties.  
 
6.3 Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources 

and cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows: 
 

Balance Sheet Resources (£m) 31.3.21 31.3.22 

Balances 2.85 2.824 

Earmarked reserves 25.234 18.812 

Provisions (2.462) (2.272) 

Usable capital receipts 0 0 

Total 25.622 19.364 

 
Earmarked reserves reduced over the year as one-off grant funding for Covid-19 
NNDR reliefs that was held in reserves was repaid, since Breckland only retained 
40% of this funding, which covered 100% of lost NNDR income. 

 
6.4 Investments held by the Council – The Council managed all its investments 

internally. 

 The Council maintained an average balance of £40.87m of internally managed 
funds, owing to one-off grants received for expenditure in later years.   

 The internally managed funds earned an average rate of return of 0.2884%.   

 The comparable performance indicator is the SONIA overnight rate, which was 
0.14058%.  

 This compares with a budget assumption of £11.5m investment balances earning 
an average rate of 2.61%. 

 Total investment income was £127,190 compared to a budget of £235,666. This 
was due to delayed timing of loans to 3rd parties at market rates. 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

25 yr PWLB 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80

50 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60

74



[Type here] 
 

11 
 

 

7 Performance Measurement 

7.1 One of the key requirements in the Code is the formal introduction of performance 
measurement relating to investments, debt and capital financing activities. The 
Council’s performance indicators were set out in the annual Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.    

 
7.2 This service has set the following performance indicators and operated within the 

boundaries set as detailed in the March performance report attached as Appendix 
C: 

 

 Security 
Risk of default 
 

 Liquidity 
Liquid short term deposits – The Council requires at least of £5m to be 
available with a month’s notice. 
Weighted Average Life 
Bank Overdraft – The Council’s approved overdraft facility is £2m 
 

 Yield 
As LIBID ceased at 31 December 2021, we consulted with our advisors and 
determined that the SONIA overnight rate would be a suitable replacement 
benchmark. 
Actual interest earned against budget 
 

 

75



[Type here] 
 

12 
 

Investment Portfolio 

Treasury Investments held as at 31st March 2022: 

Investment 
Type Counterparty Principal (£) Start date 

Maturity 
Date 

Lowest 
Long Term 
Credit 
Rating 

Call account Barclays £4,090,288.47 Call Call A 

Call account Handelsbanken £3,472,000.00 Call Call AA- 

Call account Lloyds £5,000,000.00 Call Call A+ 

Call account 
Coventry Building 
Society £5,000,000.00 Call Call A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

SMBC Bank 
International  £2,000,000.00 04/03/2022 04/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £2,000,000.00 10/01/2022 11/04/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £1,000,000.00 17/01/2022 19/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Goldman Sachs 
International Bank £1,000,000.00 21/10/2021 21/04/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £2,000,000.00 25/10/2021 25/04/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £2,000,000.00 15/03/2022 03/05/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit DMADF £2,000,000.00 15/12/2021 16/05/2022 AA- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £2,000,000.00 21/01/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £1,000,000.00 22/02/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £1,000,000.00 21/02/2022 20/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Standard 
Chartered Bank £2,000,000.00 23/02/2022 23/05/2022 A+ 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Yorkshire Building 
Society £1,000,000.00 15/03/2022 31/05/2022 A- 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Nationwide 
Building Society £2,000,000.00 07/12/2021 07/06/2022 A 

Fixed Term 
Deposit 

Goldman Sachs 
International Bank £2,000,000.00 04/01/2022 04/07/2022 A+ 

  
Total 
Investments £40,562,288.47       

 

 

 

 

 

 

76



Appendix C 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.004% 0.056% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £7.64m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to profiling of large cash outflows 
expected at short time frames.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  
The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 25 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Actual Variance 

Interest receivable 2021-22 £235,666 £127,190 £108,476 

Yield (Overnight SONIA1) 0.14058% 0.2884% (0.148%) 

 
The below budgeted income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

 
 
   
 
 

                                                 
1 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 

24,472,000 , 
58.6%

0 , 0.0%

270,000 , 0.6%

15,000,000 , 
35.9%

0 , 0.0% 2,000,000 , 
4.8%

Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Banks - Non UK

Loans to 3rd Parties

building societies

Local authorities

DMADF

Currently 
49% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

77



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance Revenues and 

Benefits  
 
To: Cabinet, 7 June 2022 
 Full Council: 7 July 2022 
 
Author: Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
 
Subject:  Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22 
 
Purpose: This report provides information on the actual full year financial position of 

the Council as at 31 March 2022 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the report and appendix be noted. 

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 
2) That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,932,375 be carried forward into 

2022-23 to support projects in progress. 
 

3) That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2022-23 capital programme as 
detailed in appendix B be approved. 

 
4) That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed in appendix C be approved. 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports have been completed forecasting the 

expected year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the 
actual full year financial performance for revenue, capital and treasury, with the detail 
being included in the attached appendix, alongside information on our major Balance 
Sheet risks.  The full statement of accounts will be presented to Governance and Audit 
Committee in July with final values. 

 
1.2 Revenue 

The full year out-turn based is a small above budget spend of £25k overall.  This is after 
removing the budgeted contribution to the General Fund of £153k as there is insufficient 
funds to make this contribution.  Full details of variances are shown in appendix A.   
 
Considering the considerable challenges still faced by Local Authorities over this financial 
year as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the significant increase in demand for 
temporary accommodation, this is an extremely positive financial position.  We have been 
able to mitigate resource and cost pressures through corporately prioritising available 
funding and resources to the most in need areas, continuing to support our priorities, our 
residents and our businesses. 
 
Progress against achieving our efficiencies has been strong, with £316k (54%) achieved 
to date and a further £118k achieved in 2022-23 (75% in total).  The remaining efficiency 
is no longer valid due to natural changes in the working environment and the budget 

78

Agenda Item 10



approved in February 2022 includes a new efficiency programme which will be reported 
on throughout the year, to ensure targets remain applicable and achievable. 
 

1.3  When the budget was set, we allocated £500k of the general Government Covid grant to 
services, leaving £231k to offset general additional costs across the Council.  These cost 
pressures were not known at the time as the impacts of the Covid pandemic cannot easily 
be forecast, but this funding and other Covid new burdens funding is being used to cover 
all Covid costs across the organisation. 

 
1.4  We are continuing to experience significantly high levels of demand within the Housing 

Service.  Calls into the service are remaining high compared to previous years, and the 
Housing Register now has approximately 1,300 people up from 1,000 for the same time 
last year.  We continue to use remining COMF to put additional Fixed Term roles into the 
service to add capacity.  We have successfully bid to the Rough Sleeper Initiative Fund for 
continuation of support staff and have commenced the build of Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation Programme for 5 additional units at Elm House as move on 
accommodation for Rough Sleepers.  We are using the direct let option within the Housing 
Allocations Policy for customers we owe the full Homelessness Duty to, ensuring we are 
able to transition them out of Temporary Accommodation as quickly as possible, those 
who turn down the offer of a suitable property will be given reasonable notice to leave 
Temporary Accommodation.  We are additionally working with other Council services to 
proactively identify additional Temporary Accommodation sites [like Elm House] in other 
part of the District as a priority. 

 
  This picture is one being seen nationally and is not just in the Breckland area.  The result 

of the higher number of customers needing to be placed into temporary accommodation is 
that we are unable to reclaim the costs in full through Housing Benefit, hence the 
additional costs shown in Appendix A in this area.  The response detailed in the 
paragraph above aims to bring the number of customers in temporary accommodation 
down and the Evolve programme includes a workstream on housing/temporary 
accommodation to help resolve these pressures in the future. 

 
1.5  Both the Council Tax and NNDR income has remained positive in 2021-22 despite the 

pandemic and we are therefore forecasting a surplus for Council Tax on the Collection 
Fund, which is recognised next financial year.  Whilst the NNDR is showing a deficit this is 
due to Government funded reliefs announced after budgets were set last year and is fully 
offset by Government grants.  Due to the accounting rules the deficit is shown next year 
with the grants held in reserve this year to fund the deficit next year. 

 
1.6  The General Fund is currently £2.8m which is near our minimum recommended balance 

of £2.5m but this small above budget spend at 31 March can be funded from the General 
Fund.   

 
1.7  Capital 
 
  The out-turn shows spend of £6,614k (77%) against the budget and appendix A details 

the main variances.  This report includes a recommendation to Full Council to carry 
forward £1,933k into future years, of which £952k relates to Better Care Fund grants 
which are committed and £637k relates to vehicles and equipment for our new waste 
contract. 

  
 
 
 
 

79



1.8  Treasury 
 
 The investment interest budget is below budget income of £110k as detailed in the 

appendix to this report.  This mainly relates to external loans to a 3rd party which are still 
expected to be made, but the timing is later than when budgeted.   

 
1.9  Balance Sheet Management 
 
 Appendix A includes a new section to highlight any potential risks to our financial 

sustainability, this section is included as a measure of good practice to ensure Members 
are fully informed and is line with the new CIPFA Financial Management Code.  The 
appendix includes full details and shows there are no actions required at the current time. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That the report and appendix be noted and 

Recommend to Full Council: 
That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,932,375 be carried forward into 
2022-23 to support projects in progress. 
That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed in appendix B be 
approved 
That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2022-23 capital programme 
as detailed in appendix C be approved 

 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 

enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary and protecting the General 
fund balance. 

 
3.2 To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1  To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 

financial position. 
 

4.2   To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and to protect the General 
fund minimum balance. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
 Transformation Programme;  Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
 implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 
5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities. 
 

80



5.3  Financial  
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications. 
 
5.8 Risk Management  
5.3.1 Financial risks are included within the report. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those     

variances. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.2 COMF – Control Outbreak Management Funding 
7.3 DFG – Disabled Facilities Grant 
7.4 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.5 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates 
7.6 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 
 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 07967 325037 
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Actual financial report for 2021-22 full year. 
Appendix B Revised 2022-23 Capital budgets and associated funding. 
Appendix C Capital funding sources 2021-22 
 
 
 
 

 

81

file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland Council 
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 
This report has four sections 

o Section 1 – Revenue budget 
o Section 2 – Capital budget 
o Section 3 – Treasury update 
o Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income. 
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income. 

Section 1 - Revenue 
 
Table 1 – Actual Revenue Outturn  

  Budget 
Actual  

Out-turn 
Actual 

Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of Services     

1) Place and Delivery (P&D) 6,018 5,401 (617) 

2) Strategy and Resources (S&R) 9,614 9,820 206 

3) Housing Benefits (HB) 434 987 553 

4) Covid-19 grant - (231) (231) 

5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 16,066 15,977 (89) 

6) Contributions to/from reserves (RES) (6,642) (6,663) (21) 

7) Total Cost of Services 9,424 9,314 (110) 

Funding & Appropriations    

8) Appropriations (APP) 7,203 7,229 26 

9) Government grants (GRA) (8,436) (8,465) (29) 

10) Council Tax (CT) (4,543) (4,542) 1 

11) Retained Business Rates (NDR) (3,537) (3,511) 26 

12) Total Funding (9,313) (9,289) 24 

13) Net Cost of Services 111 25 (86) 

14) Efficiencies to be achieved (264) - 264 

15) Remove General Fund contribution 153 - (153) 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 25 25 

 
Significant variances are detailed over the page. 
 
Salaries 
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2021-22 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues 
Partnership (ARP) staff. 
The achieved vacancy factor for this year is above target for both Breckland and for 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) staff.   

82



 

Table 2 - Significant Variances 
 
 
Cost Centre 

 
Port-
folio 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

1) Housing Benefit Claims HB 434,457 552,439 

Covid-19 impact: Increased demand in temporary accommodation through national initiatives 
such as ‘Everybody In’ combined with significantly increased costs of that accommodation 
and construction delays to the new facility in Thetford (which is now operational). 

2) Efficiencies All (264,533) 264,533 

This is the remaining efficiency planned to be achieved throughout the year, with £316k 
(54%) achieved to 31.03.22. £147k of the remainder will not be achieved due to some key 
savings which are no longer valid (shared role) and some which are delayed until next year 
(£75k travel allowances). The proposed budget rebases the efficiency requirement and sets a 
new plan from 1 April 2022 for new projects and efficiencies. 

3) BTS S&R (83,012) 111,750 
One off in year costs as a result of the decision already made regarding ceasing BTS, future 
years are cost neutral. 

4) Corporate Finance S&R (77,443) 81,322 

Loans made to Breckland Bridge have been delayed, however the schemes requiring loans 
are still part of the approved 5 year business plan so the forecasted loan income is still 
achievable albeit later than originally budgeted.  Partly offset by increased interest rates on 
general deposits 

5) ICT S&R 1,046,519 62,211 
Set up of micollab (telephony services), PSN penetration testing costs alongside increased 
postage costs as a result of home workers & external printing/postage costs. 

6) Land Charges P&D (61,390) 49,902 Shortfall in income due to reduced demand (despite increase during stamp duty holiday) 

7) Legal Services S&R 171,789 44,505 

Higher use of external resources for more complex and unpredictable cases compared to 
budget. A detailed piece of work on demand analysis, volume vs resources and choice of 
suppliers used for external works is in progress to resolve this spend for future years. 

8) Food Safety P&D 206,662 34,629 
Covid-19 impact: Third party inspection costs in order to reduce backlog of inspections as a 
result of Covid-19 previously hampering visits 

9) Appropriations APP 7,203,382 25,886 Prior year shortfall on Renewable Energy NNDR income. 

10) Retained NNDR NDR (3,537,436) 25,822 Additional levy payment on growth compared to budget. 

11) Marketing & 
Communications S&R 196,100 20,297 Additional version of Transforming Breckland 

12) Contributions from reserves RES (6,640,972) (22,213) Small value variance offset by variances within services 

13) Government grants & NHB GRA (8,435,846) (29,048) 

Additional grant for NNDR tax income compensation scheme offset by reduced New Home 
Bonus (NHB) as a result of Government policy change on the distribution of returned NHB 
compared to previous years. 

14) Roads & Footpaths P&D 89,630 (30,510) Primarily due to lower repairs as a result of the mild winter months. 

15) Footway lighting P&D 81,279 (34,528) 
Significantly reduced repairs costs as a result of wide replacement programme combined with 
energy savings through new LED bulbs 

16) Building Control P&D 25,375 (57,635) Increased fees income 

83



 

 
 
Cost Centre 

 
Port-
folio 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

17) Commercial Property & 
Business centres P&D (2,575,560) (66,586) Additional rental income as a result of increased lettings compared to budget 

18) Enabling S&R 169,809 (79,465) Salary savings due to vacancies, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

19) Salary savings  All 572,787 (90,214) 
Salary savings due to vacancies in Customer Corporate management and Community 
Development, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

20) Waste collection & 
Recycling P&D 2,251,308 (95,363) Additional income from bin purchases and bulky waste, combined with reduced contract costs 

21) Development Control P&D 29,258 (100,744) Increased applications has increased income. 

22) Revenues & Benefits S&R (611,548) (108,636) Additional Government grant to offset costs of administering grant schemes 

23) Garden Waste P&D (1,052,287) (124,722) Retained increased demand for service, which also increases costs of delivering the service 

24) Covid-19 grant funding  - (230,869) Remaining balance of the Government general Covid grant of £231k  

25) Other Miscellaneous All 10,556,098 (24,549) Combination of other small value variances 

26) Contrib’n to General Fund  - (152,787) The contribution to the General Fund will not be made 

TOTAL  - 25,427  

84



 

Table 3 – Progress Against Efficiency Targets 
 
The original efficiency target for the year was £581k and £316k has been achieved (54%) against 
these old targets in the current year.  A further £118k from this target have been achieved in 2022-23 
(75% in total) and the budgets have already been adjusted to reflect these.  The remaining £147k 
relate to targets which are no longer applicable. 
 

 
 
 
The budget approved in February 2022 rebases and resets with new projects and a new efficiency 
plan from April 2022 to ensure targets remain applicable and achievable.  These will be reported on 
through 2022-23 in the Cabinet reports. 
 
Collection Funds 
 
Council Tax 
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £713k overall at the end of 2021-
22, with Breckland’s share being £73k and this will be included in next years budget.  The forecast for 
2022-23 was a surplus of £20k and has been built into the proposed budget. 
 
Retained Business Rates 
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account had a residual deficit of £4,556k overall 
at the end of 2021-22, with Breckland’s share being £1,822k.  This balance was unusually high due 
to the Covid retail and hospitality reliefs and Covid Additional Relief Fund and the Government have 
provided grants to offset this cost to the Council.  The deficit shown in the budget for 2022-23 and the 
actual deficit are fully funded by the grants provided by Government in the current year. 
 

 
 
 
 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

Original Target Achieved to Date Achieved Next Year

2021-22 Progress Against Efficiencies

85



 

Section 2 - Capital 
 

Table 1 - Progress against 21-22 approved capital programme 

  

 
Budget   

£ 

Actual 
Out-turn 

£ 

Actual 
(under)/overspend 

£ 

Place and Delivery     

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,377,820 1,305,848 (71,972) 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 (637,223) 

   Capital grants 1,073,280 1,109,008 35,728 

   Not yet released - - - 

Total Place and Delivery 4,526,249 3,852,781 (673,467) 

Strategy and Resources    

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,372,538 1,246,063 (126,475) 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 176,246 116,497 (59,749) 

   Capital grants 2,266,466 1,314,792 (951,674) 

   Not yet released 123,438 - (123,438) 

Total Strategy and Resources 3,938,688 2,677,351 (1,261,337) 

   Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 

TOTAL 8,622,125 6,613,457 (2,008,668) 

 
Actual outturn  £6,613,457 or 77% 

 
Table 2 - The variance is shown below: 

 
 
Project 

(under)/ over 
spend 

£ 

Carry over 
to Future 

£ 

 

Place and Delivery 

Capital grants 119,089 119,089 Snetterton Power project, Shipdham Land 
Release project and S106 projects.  All of these 
are fully externally funded and the overspend is 
funded by bringing forward funding from future. 

Thetford Housing 
Infrastructure Fund 
project 

(83,682) - The remaining funding has been moved to 
revenue to fund the revenue costs of the project 
as agreed with Homes England. 

Waste vehicles and 
equipment 

(637,223) (637,223) Balance of budget to be carried forward for future 
spend on remaining vehicles and equipment 
throughout the life of the contract as required. 

Commercial Property 
Rolling Maintenance 

(53,212) (60,281) Below budget spend on current programme 
(partially offset by £7k overspend in other areas). 
Balance of budget to be carried forward for 
remaining planned works in Lodge Way 

Other miscellaneous (18,760) (18,760) Other small value variances on projects 

Strategy and Resources 

Better Care Fund – 
DFG’s and associated 
projects 

(951,674) (951,674) These works are fully funded by Government 
grant.  The £952k is fully allocated for projects 
which will take place during 2022-23 

Elm House (126,475) (126,475) Balance of budget to be carried forward for 
remaining works in progress and retention 
payments once due 

ICT projects and refresh (136,188) (136,188) Balance of budget to be carried forward for PC 
refresh for Officers and Members, cloud security 
products and infrastructure works 

Noise meters (18,000) (18,000) Procurement of the equipment has taken longer 
than anticipated, therefore budget to be carried 
forward for final installation in 2022-23 

Air Quality equipment (29,000) (29,000) 

Capital Loans 

Breckland Bridge loans (73,864) (73,864) Loans will be drawn down in future years, this 
timing delay on draw down has impacted the 
revenue budget leading to less interest received 

Total (£2,008,668) (£1,932,375)  

86



 

Section 3 – Treasury 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.004% 0.056% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £7.64m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to profiling of large cash outflows 
expected at short time frames.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  
The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 25 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Actual Variance 

Interest receivable 2021-22 £235,666 £127,190 £108,476 

Yield (Overnight SONIA1) 0.14058% 0.2884% (0.148%) 

 
The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

   
 
  

                                                 
1 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 

24,472,000 , 
58%

0 , 0%

270,000 , 1%

15,000,000 , 
36%

0 , 0%

2,000,000 , 5%

Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Banks - Non UK

Loans to 3rd Parties

building societies

Local authorities

DMADF

Currently 
49% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

87



 

Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 
 
This section focuses on the areas of our Balance Sheet which could pose risks to our financial 
sustainability.  The main areas of risk are determined as: 
 

Balance Sheet 
Area 

Measure Mitigations 

Non-Current 
Assets 

It is important that these are 
maintained in a suitable condition to 
deliver services and rental income. 

Annual capital programme to 
ensure maintenance & 
replacement activity is captured 
and planned. 

Cash & 
Investments 

A shortfall in cash would represent an 
imminent problem to paying 
expenditure. 

Daily cashflow monitoring in 
place.  Investments placed so 
they mature at different times to 
ensure a constant cash inflow. 
Treasury Management Policy in 
place and Prudential Indicators 
monitored. 

Provisions Unexpected events may give rise to 
unexpected costs, which in turn could 
reduce usable reserves. 

Regular dialogue to highlight 
potential new provisions (i.e. 
legal cases, NNDR Appeals). 

Borrowing It is important that the medium-term 
financial plan includes provision for 
repayment of debt and interest. 

Currently internal borrowing is 
being utilised and no debt 
payments are required. 

Usable reserves Some reserves are held to protect 
against one off major events (i.e. loss 
of business rates through a major 
business leaving the area/ceasing 
trading). 
Other reserves provide funding for 
corporate priorities and development, 
without these balances future 
development is difficult to achieve. 

Regularly monitored and usage 
reported in Proforma B 
alongside remaining reserve 
balance. 
Report in financial performance 
report on large unplanned use of 
reserves. 

General Fund This is currently set at a minimum 
balance of £2.5m and should only be 
utilised in emergency situations. 

Regularly monitored and any 
use would be reported through 
the financial performance report. 

 
Currently the main risk area for Breckland is usable reserves and capital reserve, as due to 
budgetary pressures there are no plans currently to replenish any reserves or capital funding, which 
could lead to less funding in future to deliver new priorities and developments. 
 
Actions 

 None 
 

88



APPENDIX B

PROJECT

2021/22 Final 

budget
2021/22 Spend

2021/22 (under)/ 

over spend

Unspent amount 

requested to be 

carried over

Original Budget 

2022/23

Proposed new 

budget 2022/23 

(gross)

Breckland 

Funded
MRP LEP BRP

Specific 

Grant
S106 Revenue

Place and Delivery
Snetterton Power Upgrade (LEP Funded) 326,771 709,999 383,228 (383,228) 2,404,013 2,020,785 1,304,988 715,797

Housing Infrastructure Fund - Thetford 395,554 312,192 (83,362) 0 0 0

Shipdham Land Release 257,787 14,995 (242,792) 242,792 0 242,792 242,792

Public lighting 133,899 125,889 (8,010) 8,010 0 8,010 8,010

Bridge Works Swaffham 16,000 5,252 (10,749) 10,749 85,000 95,749 95,749

Riverside finishing items 55,684 55,684 (0) 0 0 0

Car Parks Resurfacing 11,152 11,152 0 0 120,797 120,797 120,797

Elizabeth House Worksmart 639,805 639,804 (1) 0 0 0

Elizabeth House Renewal 21 145,088 145,088 0 0 11,072 11,072 11,072

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 20/21 151,194 158,263 7,069 0 0 0

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 21/22 72,500 12,219 (60,281) 60,281 0 60,281 60,281

Waste Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 (637,223) 637,223 0 637,223 12,223 625,000

Watton Teen Area 3PL/2014/0330/F 14,490 14,490 0 0 0 0

East Harling Picnic Area 3PL/2014/0402/F 1,680 1,680 0 0 0 0

Affordable Housing Benjamin Foundation 55,651 55,651 0 0 0 0

Attleborough Decoy Common Access 3PL/2010/0033/F 21,347 0 (21,347) 21,347 0 21,347 21,347

PFI 152,498 152,498 0 0 0 0

Green Britain Centre new access 0 0 0 0 50,000 50,000 50,000

Swaffham new build 0 0 0 0 975,785 975,785 975,785

Asset purchase Thetford 0 0 0 0 430,000 430,000 430,000

Re-investment of sale income 0 0 0 0 999,715 999,715 999,715

Leisure Strategy (Inc Growth internal borrowing) 0 0 0 0 1,300,000 1,300,000 1,300,000

Future Leisure Provision Swaffham 0 0 0 0 700,000 700,000 700,000

Sustainability Projects 0 0 0 0 200,000 200,000 200,000

Planning and building control system 0 0 0 0 75,000 75,000 75,000

4,526,249 3,852,781 (673,467) 597,173 7,351,382 7,948,555 4,838,632 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 242,792 21,347 200,000

Strategy and Resources
Officer/Member refresh 165,250 89,250 (76,000) 76,000 225,250 301,250 197,688 103,562

Agile working/technology change events (G&I) 27,246 27,246 0 0 0 0

BCF - Disability Adaptations                (RESTORE) 26,008 1,715 (24,293) 24,293 50,000 74,293 74,293

BCF - Mandatory Adaptation Assistance (DFG's/Re-Able) 1,776,632 963,130 (813,501) 813,501 993,751 1,807,252 1,807,252

BCF - Discretionary Repairs Assistance (Enhance/Safety & 

Security Grant)

50,000 987 (49,013) 49,013 50,000 99,013 99,013

BCF - Discretionary Adaptation Assistance 

(Relocation/Additional Adaptation Assistance)

100,000 42,877 (57,123) 57,123 100,000 157,123 157,123

BCF  - Staffing to support the schemes 201,512 201,512 0 0 127,893 127,893 127,893

BCF - Dementia funding 8,000 256 (7,744) 7,744 8,000 15,744 15,744

Enhancement grants 104,314 104,314 (0) 0 0 0

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (pre 

construction)

21,006 12,840 (8,166) 0 0 0

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution 

(Construction)

858,826 740,517 (118,309) 126,475 0 126,475 126,475

Temporary Accommodation - (S106) 492,706 492,706 0 0 0 0

noise metres 18,000 0 (18,000) 18,000 0 18,000 18,000

air quality equipment 29,000 0 (29,000) 29,000 0 29,000 29,000

ICT Strategy Projects 35,188 0 (35,188) 35,188 0 35,188 35,188

Infrastructure 25,000 0 (25,000) 25,000 0 25,000 25,000

Replacement UPS unit plant room 0 0 0 0 30,000 30,000 30,000

Empty Homes 0 0 0 250,000 250,000 250,000

3,938,688 2,677,351 (1,261,337) 1,261,337 1,834,894 3,096,231 676,163 0 0 0 2,281,318 0 138,750

Grand Total Capital Programme 8,464,937 6,530,133 (1,934,804) 1,858,510 9,186,276 11,044,786 5,514,795 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 2,524,110 21,347 338,750

Capital Loans
LABV loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 73,864 0 73,864 73,864

Total Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 73,864 0 73,864 73,864 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 8,622,125 6,613,457 (2,008,668) 1,932,375 9,186,276 11,118,651 5,588,659 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 2,524,110 21,347 338,750

89



APPENDIX C

PROJECT

2021/22 Final 

budget
2021/22 Spend

Capital 

Reserve

Useable 

Capital 

receipts

Revenue 

Reserves
PFI Scheme

External grant 

funding

Roof & 

Asphalt 

reserve

S106/ 

Commuted 

sums

Place and Delivery
Snetterton Power Upgrade (LEP Funded) 326,771 709,999 709,999

Housing Infrastructure Fund - Thetford 395,554 312,192 312,192

Shipdham Land Release 257,787 14,995 14,995

Public lighting 133,899 125,889 125,889

Bridge Works Swaffham 16,000 5,252 5,252

Riverside finishing items 55,684 55,684 55,684

Car Parks Resurfacing 11,152 11,152 11,152

Elizabeth House Worksmart 639,805 639,804 639,804

Elizabeth House Renewal 21 145,088 145,088 145,088

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 20/21 151,194 158,263 127,148 31,115

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 21/22 72,500 12,219 12,219

Waste Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 755,573 682,354

Watton Teen Area 3PL/2014/0330/F 14,490 14,490 14,490

East Harling Picnic Area 3PL/2014/0402/F 1,680 1,680 1,680

Affordable Housing Benjamin Foundation 55,651 55,651 55,651

Attleborough Decoy Common Access 3PL/2010/0033/F 21,347 0

PFI 152,498 152,498 152,498

4,526,249 3,852,781 755,573 1,164,784 639,804 152,498 1,037,187 31,115 71,821

Strategy and Resources
Officer/Member refresh 165,250 89,250 89,250

Agile working/technology change events (G&I) 27,246 27,246 27,246

BCF - Disability Adaptations                (RESTORE) 26,008 1,715 1,715

BCF - Mandatory Adaptation Assistance (DFG's/Re-Able) 1,776,632 963,130 963,130

BCF - Discretionary Repairs Assistance (Enhance/Safety & Security 

Grant)

50,000 987 987

BCF - Discretionary Adaptation Assistance (Relocation/Additional 

Adaptation Assistance)

100,000 42,877 42,877

BCF  - Staffing to support the schemes 201,512 201,512 201,512

BCF - Dementia funding 8,000 256 256

Enhancement grants 104,314 104,314 104,314

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (pre construction) 21,006 12,840 12,840

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (Construction) 858,826 740,517 352,487 388,030

Temporary Accommodation - (funded) 492,706 492,706 0 492,706

noise metres 18,000 0

air quality equipment 29,000 0

ICT Strategy Projects 35,188 0

Infrastructure 25,000 0

3,938,688 2,677,351 365,327 0 504,527 0 1,314,792 0 492,706

Grand Total Capital Programme 8,464,937 6,530,133 1,120,900 1,164,784 1,144,330 152,498 2,351,979 31,115 564,527

Capital Loans
LABV loans 157,188 83,324 83,324

Total Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 83,324 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 8,622,125 6,613,457 1,204,224 1,164,784 1,144,330 152,498 2,351,979 31,115 564,527

90


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	6 Questions on Notice under Standing Order No 6
	8a Cabinet: 6 June 2022
	Minutes

	8b Overview & Scrutiny Commission: 26 May 2022
	Minutes

	8c Planning Committee: 10 May 2022 and 7 June 2022
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 07/06/2022 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	9 Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential Indicators 2021-22
	Appendix A for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22, 23/06/2022 Governance and Audit Committee
	Appendix B for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22, 23/06/2022 Governance and Audit Committee
	Appendix C for Treasury Management Outturn 21-22, 23/06/2022 Governance and Audit Committee

	10 Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 2 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 3 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22


